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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLC 

Minister for Regional Development; Agriculture and Food; Minister Assisting the 
Minister for State Development, Jobs and Trade 

 

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby 
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the 
Great Southern Development Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2017. 

In the performance of its functions, the GSDC complies with all relevant written laws 
including but not limited to: 

Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 (as amended) 
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 
Disability Services Act 1993  
Equal Opportunity Act 1984 
Financial Management Act 2006 
Freedom of Information Act 1992 
Industrial Relations Act 1979 
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 
Public Sector Management Act 1994 
Royalties for Regions Act 2009 
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 
State Records Act 2000 
State Supply Commission Act 1991 

In the financial administration of the GSDC, we have complied with the requirements 
of the Financial Management Act 2006 and every other relevant written law. We have 
exercised controls which provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and 
expenditure of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of public property and 
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render 
the particulars in this statement misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 
 
ROSS THORNTON BRUCE MANNING 
CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
23 AUGUST 2017 23 AUGUST 2017 
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CHAIRMAN’S FOREWORD 

 
In 2016-17, the Great Southern Development Commission (GSDC) recorded another 
year of solid achievement in the planning and advancement of strategic projects. This 
work is set to continue in 2017-18 refocused on the priorities set by the new State 
Government elected in March 2017. 
As part of a reform agenda that has included a review of all departments and 
agencies, the GSDC is now poised to begin a new phase of its existence within the 
Department of Primary Industry and Regional Development (DPIRD). The Board 
looks forward to advancing the region’s growth under the new administrative 
operating structure to efficiently deliver diversified economic growth, more local 
content in regional projects, higher indigenous economic participation, and better 
outcomes in innovation and international investment. 
During 2016-17, Great Southern communities continued to invest in assets that will 
generate economic and social benefits. Developments have been largely driven by 
local governments with a significant level of grant funding from the State 
Government. In some cases the proponents have also attracted support from 
Commonwealth programs.  
The City of Albany maintained its major redevelopment of the Centennial Park 
sporting precinct, a valuable asset for the entire Great Southern. The most recent 
elements included the construction of the stadium complex and the fit-out of the new 
cricket and soccer pavilion. Another addition to the Centennial Park precinct was the 
extensive Albany Agricultural Society buildings, supported by funding through the 
GSDC. 
In January 2017, construction started on new purpose-designed student 
accommodation in the UWA Albany Centre precinct. The $3 million project on the 
historic Norman House site will provide five four-bed units for students in higher 
education. The State Government funding for the development was led by an 
investment from the Great Southern Community Housing Association. The complex 
will enhance the region’s capacity to offer quality post-secondary education. This is a 
long-term strategic objective of the GSDC, which started with the establishment of 
the University of Western Australia Albany Centre and has continued with the Centre 
of Excellence in Natural Resource Management. 
The Early Childhood Hub (ECH) in Katanning, which is at the construction tender 
stage, has been designed to aggregate early childhood services into a single 
building. This will provide an integrated service that should improve the development 
of participating children. The ECH development was supported by $5.7 million in 
State Government funding as a strategic project for the sub-region. Through a range 
of linked construction projects, that include Regional Centres Development Plan 1 
and private investment, Katanning has continued its steady development as a major 
regional town. 
Across the region, there was a steady increase in tourism and recreation 
infrastructure investment, with a strong lead from local government and grant funding 
sourced through the GSDC. In Denmark, the Shire and community driven Riverside 
Club redevelopment was completed and is proving to be both a recreational and 
tourism asset within an environmentally-aware design. 
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The Shire of Jerramungup commenced its planned town centre enhancements and 
tourist trails development in Bremer Bay. In addition to its traditional outdoors 
attractions, the town has experienced a growing interest in boat tours to view orcas 
and other cetaceans at the offshore Bremer Canyon formation.   
With significant input from a local residents’ development group in the Shire of Kent, 
the Nyabing Community Hub was advanced from planning to construction. In addition 
to serving as a community centre, the hub will include accommodation for seasonal 
workers and office space for visiting service providers. The construction, which will 
continue into 2017-18, was supported by a major community fundraising effort and 
has drawn grant support from all three levels of government, including funding 
through the GSDC.  
The Shire of Gnowangerup completed the building and associated works for its new 
swimming pool, a recreation asset that, from its opening, has attracted families from 
across the subregion. The development was made possible by grant funding from the 
Shire and State Government, plus a significant community in-kind investment in the 
centre’s landscaping. 
Hosting business and investor delegations, including groups from China and Japan, 
was an important focus of GSDC activity during the year. Visits included a delegation 
from Hyogo prefecture in Japan, led by the Governor of Hyogo, Mr Toshizo Ido. For 
groups exploring tourism and other business opportunities, recently-enhanced 
attractions such as the viewing facilities at The Gap and the Bremer Canyon provided 
striking backdrops to tours presenting the Great Southern’s nature-based assets. The 
Commission prepared and delivered presentations that focused on investment 
opportunities in aquaculture, tourism and food production to a range of national and 
international delegations. 
I thank the GSDC staff and CEO for their commitment to the work of the Commission 
in 2016-17. I acknowledge the work of GSDC Board members, all of whom 
approached their responsibilities with diligence and a strong awareness of the 
opportunities and challenges confronting the Great Southern. I also acknowledge the 
support received in 2016-17 from the Minister for Regional Development, the Hon 
Alannah MacTiernan, and the former minister, the Hon Terry Redman MLA, and from 
the Ministerial Office. 
 
ROSS THORNTON 
CHAIRMAN 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 

 
Development of the Great Southern during 2016-17 took place in a context of 
reduced growth in Western Australia’s economy as major resource projects 
continued to transition from construction to production. The lack of major resource 
projects in the Great Southern again brought into focus the region’s strength in 
primary production, and how it continues to largely insulate the region against some 
of the economic shock experienced elsewhere in the State. Resource projects remain 
under consideration for the region, and may be brought forward to the development 
stage when conditions change in global markets. However, in the short to medium 
term, growth in the Great Southern will continue to proceed from the enhancement of 
sectors already contributing to the regional economy, including primary production, 
health, tourism and education. 
In 2016-17, the GSDC continued its region-building events and activities, undertaken 
in the context of an election year. The election in March 2017 delivered a change of 
government at the State level and an extensive restructure of government 
departments and agencies. In the post-election period, the GSDC management team 
continued to liaise closely with the Department of Regional Development as it 
prepared to amalgamate with the Departments of Agriculture and Food, and 
Fisheries into a new Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development 
(DPIRD). At the end of 2016-17, the Commission’s staff (except the CEO) were set to 
become employees of the new department. 
Throughout the year, the Commission continued to encourage and support 
opportunities arising in agriculture, horticulture, aquaculture and tourism, among 
others. A significant addition to the region’s strategic resources was identified through 
the groundwater investigation and mapping undertaken by the Department of Water 
and announced in November 2016. Water resources located and assessed by this 
study offer opportunities for growth in horticulture and intensive agriculture, and the 
GSDC and DPIRD staff are already working with project proponents in these areas. 
Aquaculture has a strengthening place in the region’s strategic prospects. The South 
Coast Aquaculture Project will expedite growth in this sector by identifying and 
securing approvals for waters considered suitable for aquaculture. The scope of the 
project ranges from Augusta to Israelite Bay. Analysis is under way to determine the 
most suitable areas for shellfish aquaculture production. Once appropriate sites are 
identified and assessed, aquaculture trials may be undertaken to further validate their 
viability for large-scale commercial shellfish production. The shellfish hatchery being 
built in Albany is another strategic asset that will facilitate investment growth in 
aquaculture. 
Tourism continues to create opportunities in the region and is set to do more as the 
Great Southern Centre of Outdoor Recreation Excellence (GSCORE) project takes 
shape. GSCORE will promote the development of adventure and experiential tourism 
in the Great Southern. The project is supported by State Government funding 
through the GSDC and is a joint initiative between the Commission, the Albany 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry and the Department of Sport and Recreation. 
Albany is set to gain strategic strength as a renewable energy hub, with a $19.5 
million State Government election commitment to a wave energy project. This 
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innovative project will include a research facility building the depth of academic 
expertise and activity in the region. The wave energy project holds the ultimate 
prospect of the Great Southern drawing its energy needs entirely from sustainable 
sources. Further opportunities for innovation are set to open up through the State 
Government’s commitment to an innovation hub in the region. 
As in previous years, grant funding was a significant strand of the GSDC’s work in 
2016-17. Through the Regional Grants Scheme, the Community Chest Fund and the 
Local Projects-Local Jobs program, the Commission supported a wide range of 
projects that enhanced the Great Southern community and economy. More details of 
these projects are included in the body of the Annual Report. The Commission 
continued to seek funding support for strategic projects through the development of 
robust business cases to support grant funding from a range of sources. 
In March, the GSDC was pleased to host what was believed to be the first visit to the 
Great Southern by a serving Australian ambassador. Mark Sawers is Australia’s 
Ambassador to the Central African Republic, Djibouti, Ethiopia and South Sudan. Mr 
Sawers paid a two-day visit to the region in which he briefed business and 
government representatives. Mr Sawers identified trade, investment and cultural 
exchange opportunities between Australia and the countries in his portfolio.  
One of the most significant achievements of the year was the Commission’s 
collaboration with a range of regional partners to bring the 2016 conference of 
Sustainable Economic Growth for Regional Australia (SEGRA) to the Great Southern 
in October. The conference, which attracted a record 363 delegates, was based in 
Albany and included extension activities across the region. A strong focus on 
strategic approaches to regional development delivered a wealth of ideas and 
perspectives for conference participants. The GSDC notes with gratitude the support 
of co-host partners the City of Albany and Regional Development Australia –Great 
Southern, and 14 other partners in the bid for this successful event. 
I acknowledge the work and commitment of GSDC staff during 2016-17, and 
anticipate that this will continue in the year to come under the new departmental 
structure. In this acknowledgement, I include the 2016-17 contributions of departed 
staff members Christine Grogan (Manager Community and Corporate), Grytsje Doust 
(Executive Assistant) and Linsey MacFarlane (Senior Development Officer). Ms 
Grogan was a strong member of the GSDC management team, Mrs Doust was a 
dedicated assistant to the CEO and Board Chair, and Ms MacFarlane made a strong 
contribution in support of the region’s tourism industry, including a significant role in 
securing commitments from a number of partner organisations to deliver the 
successful 2016 SEGRA Conference. 
Acknowledgement is also due to Board Chair Ross Thornton and the Board members 
for their support and commitment in 2016-17. 
 
BRUCE MANNING 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
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OVERVIEW 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Great Southern Development Commission (GSDC) operates under the Regional 
Development Commissions Act 1993 and reports to the Hon Alannah MacTiernan 
MLC, Minister for Regional Development; Agriculture and Food; Minister assisting the 
Minister for State Development, Jobs and Trade. 
The GSDC has complied with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 
2006, the Public Sector Management Act 1994 and all other relevant laws. 
The GSDC’s Strategic Directions 2014-2020 provides the road map for the agency’s 
activities and is in line with the strategic priority areas reflected in the Great Southern 
Regional Investment Blueprint. The GSDC addresses the Government’s Goals 
through its strategic plan as explained in Strategic Directions 2014-2020. 
The GSDC’s projects and achievements, outlined from page 16, are the activities that 
are guided by Strategic Directions 2014-2020. 
An independent survey of key performance indicators showed that 81 per cent of the 
GSDC’s clients rated the Commission as being effective or very effective in its 
delivery of services to coordinate and promote economic development in the Great 
Southern. This result meets the target of 80 per cent. 
The GSDC achieved an efficiency indicator of $54,943 per project. 
In 2016-17, the net cost of the GSDC’s services was $4,914,959. 
At 30 June 2017, the GSDC employed 11.2 full-time staff equivalents to achieve 
regional economic and social development outcomes for the Great Southern. 
The GSDC’s compliance with Government policy and law is reported in the 
Governance Disclosures and Other Legal Requirements sections from page 87 of 
this report. 
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE 

ENABLING LEGISLATION 
The Great Southern Development Commission was established by the Regional 
Development Commissions Act 1993. 

RESPONSIBLE MINISTER 
The GSDC reports to the Hon Alannah MacTiernan, Minister for Regional 
Development; Agriculture and Food; Minister assisting the Minister for State 
Development, Jobs and Trade. 

Purpose 
The purpose of the GSDC is to assist the Great Southern region in achieving its 
economic development potential. 

Role 
The role of the GSDC is to coordinate and promote the economic development of the 
Great Southern region of Western Australia. 

OBJECTS AND FUNCTIONS 
(Based on the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 and amendments) 
The objects and functions of the GSDC are to: 

• Maximise job creation and improve career opportunities in the region 
• Develop and broaden the economic base of the region 
• Identify infrastructure services to promote economic and social development 

within the region 
• Provide information and advice to promote business development within the 

region 
• Seek to ensure that the general standard of government services and access 

to those services in the region is comparable to that which applies in the 
metropolitan area 

• Generally take steps to encourage, promote, facilitate and monitor the 
economic development of the region. 
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ORGANISATION CHART 
At 30 June 2017 
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BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
 
At 30 June 2017, Board members by nomination categories were: 

Ministerially Nominated 

Cameron Taylor 
Mr Taylor is a Katanning-based partner and director of accounting firm RSM Bird 
Cameron, for which he manages the Great Southern zone covering Albany, 
Katanning and Narrogin offices. 

Len Handasyde 
Cr Handasyde is the Deputy President of the Shire of Plantagenet and has been a 
member of the Council since 2009. He farms strawberries, cherries, sheep and 
grains in the Plantagenet district. He serves on the Regional Road Group, Southern 
Link Voluntary Regional Organisation of Councils, the Great Southern WALGA zone 
and various Plantagenet Shire committees. 

Community Nominated 

Ross Thornton (Chair) 
Mr Thornton is a qualified town planner and registered builder, has been involved in 
property development and is currently farming. He is a member of the Western 
Australian Planning Commission. Mr Thornton is a former Councillor and President of 
the Shire of Denmark. 

Dennis Wellington 
Mr Wellington is the Mayor of the City of Albany, an office he has filled since 2011. 
Apart from a short break, he has been a member of the Council since 2000, and has 
also served as Deputy Mayor. Mr Wellington worked in real estate for 16 years, was 
in tourism for three years and ran a business in Albany for 22 years. 

Margaret Gorman 
Mrs Gorman is a farmer and relief teacher from Wellstead. She has a long 
involvement with various community groups in Wellstead, and played a key role in 
the development of the Wellstead Community Resource Centre. Mrs Gorman is 
chairperson of the Wellstead Historical and Heritage Committee and is on the 
committee of the Wellstead Progress Association. 
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Local Government Nominated 

Veronica Fleay (Deputy Chair) 
Councillor Fleay is President of the Shire of Kojonup. She is a member of the 
Western Australian Planning Commission and a former Chair of the Gascoyne 
Development Commission. 

Fiona Gaze 
Councillor Gaze is the Principal of the Gnowangerup District High School and has a 
strong focus on enhancing career development and alternatives for at-risk students. 
She is the Deputy President of the Shire of Gnowangerup, where she has been a 
Councillor since 2009. Cr Gaze has served on a range of council committees. She 
has also contributed through a variety of community groups, with an emphasis on 
families, youth and leadership.  

Joanne Iffla 
Councillor Iffla is a long-term resident of Bremer Bay and has been a Jerramungup 
Shire Councillor since 2005. Cr Iffla was re-elected for a further four-year term in 
October 2013 and reappointed as Deputy Shire President on 20 November 2013. 
She represents the Shire on a range of committees. She has been a self-employed 
farmer for the past 20 years and continues to be actively involved in sports clubs at 
Boxwood Hill and Bremer Bay. 

By Virtue of Office 

Bruce Manning 
Mr Manning is the Chief Executive Officer of the GSDC. 
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OPERATIONAL STAFF 
At 30 June 2017, the staff members were: 

Bruce Manning, Chief Executive Officer 
Russell Pritchard, Regional Manager Industry & Infrastructure 
Angela Simpson, Regional Manager Community & Corporate 
Rowena Carnaby, Chief Finance Officer 
Gavin Ellis, Strategic Projects Officer 
Duane Schouten, Senior Development Officer 
Jessica van der Waag, Regional Development Officer 
Steve Pontin, Communications Officer 
Nicola Edwards, Communications Officer 
Clare Hodgson, Executive Assistant 
Caitlin Dekker, Finance and Administration Assistant 
Roslyn Loxton, Administration Officer Reception 
 

During the year, resignations were accepted from the following staff: 
Christine Grogan, Regional Manager Community & Corporate 
Linsey McFarlane, Senior Development Officer  
Grytsje Doust, Executive Assistant 
Rebecca Weadon, Administration Officer 
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
The GSDC delivers one service, regional development, in accordance with its 
corporate vision expressed in six corporate goals.  
Vision: The sustainable development of our region’s economy in harmony with our 
unique heritage and natural environment. 
Goals: In accordance with the GSDC’s Strategic Directions 2014-2020, the agency 
delivers its projects by addressing the following goals: 

Planning and 
Coordination 

Undertake regional planning and, where appropriate, 
projects in partnership with relevant agencies and 
stakeholders, in alignment with the State Government’s 
overarching planning framework, to create sustainable 
regional growth. 

Economic Growth 
and Diversification 

Advance the growth and diversification of the economy 
and the attraction and retention of industry. 

Essential 
Infrastructure and 
Services 

Support coordinated approaches to the development of 
capital infrastructure and investment in associated 
services.  

Community and 
Environment 

Develop the community and environmental assets and 
capacities that make the region a preferred place to 
live, work, visit and invest. 

Knowledge and 
Innovation 

Attract and foster the knowledge and innovation sector 
to build on the region’s comparative advantages. 

Efficient Agency 
Performance 

Manage resources to achieve our core business of 
economic development with optimum efficiency. 

 
The GSDC’s goals and activities incorporate the State Government’s goal of a 
stronger focus on the regions: Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic development to improve the overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas. 

CHANGES TO OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
There have been no changes to the outcome based management framework during 
2016-17. 

SHARED RESPONSIBILITIES WITH OTHER AGENCIES 
The GSDC has no shared responsibilities with other agencies, but works 
collaboratively with other agencies to achieve the Government’s desired outcomes in 
the Great Southern. 
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AGENCY PERFORMANCE 

PERFORMANCE TARGETS 
The Commission reports its efficiency as average cost per project. The target cost 
was $53,902 and the actual average cost per project in 2016-17 was $54,943. 
In 2016-17 the GSDC met its target for client satisfaction with the agency’s 
coordination and promotion of Great Southern economic development. 

Actual Results Versus Budget Targets 
Financial targets 2016-17: 

 2016-17 Target 2016-17 Actual Variation 
 

1 Total cost of services (expense limit) $3,788,000 $4,941,356 $1,153,365 
2 Net cost of services $3,698,000 $4,914,959 $1,216,959 
3 Total equity $779,000 $492,524 (286,476) 
4 Net increase / (decrease) in cash held $47,000 ($330,738) (377,738) 
5 Approved salary expense level $1,399,000 $1,222,190 (176,810) 
Agreed borrowing limit Not applicable Not applicable  
 
Variance 1 due to State Government investment of $1,000,000 in the Local Projects-
Local Jobs initiative. 
Variance 2 due to the Local Projects-Local Jobs initiative. 
Variance 3 due to payout of legacy projects/funds (e.g. leave). 
Variance 4 due to payout of legacy projects/funds.  
Variance 5 due to vacant positions and resignations. 
 

Client Survey 
The Commission engaged Perth Market Research to conduct a client survey, which 
drew 151 responses from 198 clients contacted. 
A target rating of 80 per cent was set for the GSDC’s coordination and promotion of 
Great Southern economic development. The GSDC achieved a rating of 81 per cent 
of respondents who thought its coordination and promotion of economic development 
was effective or very effective. 

Very Effective or Effective Ineffective or Very Ineffective 

2017 
Target 

2017 
Target 

2016 
Actual 

2015 
Actual 

2014 
Actual 

2013 
Actual 

2017 
Actual 

2016 
Actual 

2015 
Actual 

2014 
Actual 

2013 
Actual 

81% 80% 83% 83% 81% 83% 1% 2% 2% 1% 2% 
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Specific activity areas were also rated, such as providing business advice, lobbying 
for improved infrastructure and improving access to services. The results of the 
independently conducted client survey, showing clients’ ratings of the GSDC against 
various items, are reported in the following table. 
 

Performance 
Area 

Effective or Very Effective Ineffective or Very Ineffective 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Lobbying to improve 
infrastructure 
development 

79% 77% 80% 79% 81% 1% 3% 2% 2% 3% 

Enhancing 
investment 
opportunities 

75% 77% 78% 76% 79% 2% 3% 1% 1% 2% 

Providing business 
information and 
advice 

88% 91% 88% 84% 82% 0% 1% - 1% 2% 

Creating 
economically 
sustainable 
development 

75% 77% 76% 74% 74% 2% 0% 4% 3% 4% 

Improving access to 
services 80% 83% 80% 77% 80% 2% 1% 1% 1% 2% 

Improving quality of 
life 62% 71% 63% 64% 66% 8% 7% 6% 6% 5% 

Developing career 
opportunities 61% 63% 68% 67% 71% 7% 5% 6% 7% 5% 
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

PLANNING AND COORDINATION 

Strategic Projects 
In 2016-17, the Commission continued to work with a wide range of project partners 
to develop business cases in support of priority projects identified in the Great 
Southern Regional Investment Blueprint and monitored eight projects that had been 
approved in previous years. 
As a result of this planning activity, the following five projects, with a combined value 
of over $66 million, received Cabinet approval for more than $49 million of funding 
during 2016-17, as detailed in the table. 

STRATEGIC PROJECTS APPROVED 2016-17 

Project Proponent Total Project 
Value Funding Approved 

Katanning SuperTown 
Heritage Centre Project 

Shire of Katanning $18,350,000 $15,720,000 

Stage 2 Affordable Student 
Housing 

Great Southern 
Community Housing 
Association 

$15,997,000 $10,997,000 

Bremer Bay Town Centre and 
Trail Project 

Shire of Jerramungup $2,196,383 $1,696,383 

William Bay and Denmark 
Tourist Infrastructure 
Renewal 

Department of Parks and 
Wildlife  

$10,898,192 $9,339,157 

Great Southern Housing 
Initiative: Well-aged & Key 
Worker Housing 

GSDC (LGA Partners) $18,632,000 $11,497,667 

A further eight strategic projects that were approved in previous years were 
advanced during 2016-17 as summarised below: 

Projects Approved in  
2014-15 and 2015-16 

Proponent Funding Progress as at 
30 June 2017 

Torndirrup Visitor 
Infrastructure at The Gap and 
Natural Bridge 

Department of 
Parks and Wildlife 

$1,200,000 The project was completed in 
2015-16 and formally opened on 
6 May 2016 

Katanning Early Childhood 
Hub 

Shire of Katanning $5,725,000 Tendering process commenced 

Katanning Mainstreet Stage 2 
– Richardson to Railway 
Upgrade 

Shire of Katanning $350,000 The project was completed in 
2015-16 
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Projects Approved in  
2014-15 and 2015-16 

Proponent Funding Progress as at 
30 June 2017 

Regional Waste Management Shires of 
Jerramungup, 
Ravensthorpe, 
Katanning, Kent 
and Gnowangerup 

$3,112,240 Tendering process commenced 

Affordable Student 
Accommodation Stage One – 
Norman House 

Great Southern 
Community 
Housing 
Association 

$1,170,000 Construction commenced during 
2016-17 

Denmark East Development 
Precinct 

Shire of Denmark $7,626,000 Planning and public consultation 
process advanced; civil works 
under way for light industrial area 

Kojonup Independent Living 
Units Stage 2 

Shire of Kojonup $646,000 Project has been completed 

Collet Barker Court Stage 3 Plantagenet 
Village Homes  

$1,242,289 Tenders were awarded in March 
2017 

Business Case Development 
In addition to the approved projects above, the Commission worked with other project 
partners to develop supporting business cases for funding consideration: 

• Tree Top Walk Enhancement 
• Breaksea Island Restoration and Tourism Infrastructure Project 
• Residential Student Accommodation – Denmark Agriculture College 
• Health Care Centres Jerramungup and Bremer Bay 
• Wave Integrated Renewable Energy Development (WIRED) 
• Great Southern Master Tourism Trails (including Adventure trails, Biodiversity 

and Cultural Heritage trails and Gourmet trails) 
• The Kodja Place Precinct (Kojonup) 
• Land Assembly Investment Initiative (Plantagenet, Kojonup, Katanning, 

Gnowangerup)  
The Commission also worked on concept briefs and supporting analysis for other key 
strategic projects identified in the Great Southern Regional Investment Blueprint. 
During 2016-17, post-production activity continued on the feature film Breath, which 
was shot on location in Denmark. 
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Sustainable Economic Growth for Regional Australia Conference 
In October 2016, the GSDC, the City of 
Albany and RDA-Great Southern co-
hosted the 20th annual Sustainable 
Economic Growth for Regional Australia 
(SEGRA) conference, held in Albany and 
the Great Southern. SEGRA was attracted 
to Albany following a partnership bid by 
the co-hosts and 14 other regional 
organisations. 
The theme for the 2016 conference, 
Naturally Stronger Regions: Realising the 
Potential, encouraged the exploration of 
a number of critical issues for continuing 
regional development, including the need 
to foster innovation, create agile organisations and build resilient communities. 
SEGRA 2016 attracted a record number of participants, with 363 direct registrations 
and a total of 442 attendees for the event including the pre-conference program. 
Delegates from across Australia attended two days of plenary sessions and 
workshops, and many also took part in the informative regional tours on the final day 
of the event. Speakers at the event presented a wide range of topics and ideas, 
strongly featuring leadership, collaboration and innovation. 

Middleton Beach Activity Centre 
Working Group 
The Middleton Beach Activity Centre 
Working Group, chaired by the 
Department of Planning, was formed to 
assist with the preparation of an 
improvement plan for vacant land at 
Middleton Beach in Albany, including 
the former Esplanade Hotel site. 
Throughout 2016-17, LandCorp worked 
closely with the City of Albany, 
Department of Planning, Department of 
Lands, the GSDC, other government 
agencies and the community to 
prepare a concept plan and the 
statutory planning documents for the area. The Middleton Beach Activity Structure 
Plan and a Scheme Amendment were both approved by the Albany City Council in 
January 2017. 
The planning approvals for Middleton Beach require coastal protection measures to 
ensure the lots created within the precinct are protected as predicted climate and sea 
level changes occur over the next 100 years. The protection measures typically 
involve rock reinforcements (like buried groynes or shore piling) and a substantial 
amount of landscaping to ensure they are seamlessly integrated into a foreshore 
area comprised of high quality public space. The cost of the foreshore protection and 
landscaping (Middleton Beach Transformation Plan) is estimated at $8 million. The 

A structure plan has been approved for 
Albany’s Middleton Beach. 

SEGRA Conference convenor and founder 
Kate Charters and GSDC Chair Ross 
Thornton at SEGRA 2016. 
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GSDC contributed $10,000 to the development of a business case to support an 
application to the Commonwealth’s Building Better Regions Fund (BBRF). 

Albany Aviation Community Consultation Group 
In 2016-17, the GSDC continued its membership of the Albany Aviation Community 
Consultation Group. The group, convened by the Department of Transport, provides 
a forum whereby Albany’s servicing airline can regularly brief key regional 
stakeholders. The committee provides feedback on a range of issues including 
airport infrastructure, fees and charges, ticket prices and service frequency. Regional 
Express (Rex) has been Albany’s servicing airline since February 2016. 

Workforce Development 
The Great Southern Workforce Development Plan (GSWDP) was finalised in 2016-
17, with 28 priority actions successfully implemented and formally signed off by the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development. This followed endorsement by 
the Alliance at its meeting on 21 December 2016. The Alliance membership was 
expanded in 2016-17 and continues to be chaired by the GSDC. 
While the GSWDP has now been acquitted, the strategy themes across all categories 
will continue as standing items on the Alliance’s agenda. This should ensure 
emerging labour market issues and opportunities continue to be addressed. 
During the period, the Alliance had input to the State Priority Occupation List 2016, a 
list of jobs identified by the Department of Training and Workforce Development that 
are considered critical to the State’s economy. In all cases, there have been 
demonstrated unmet demand and/or non-market factors which impact the need for 
training or changes to migration visa categories. An emerging issue during the period 
was the renewed interest in training by the plantation timber sector. 
Another key activity by the Alliance in 2016-17 was the commencement of 
implementation of the Katanning Workforce Development Plan 2015-2018. The plan 
includes 10 priority actions which were identified by local stakeholders as necessary 
to address the subregional workforce and skill needs of Katanning. The priority 
actions include initiatives in training for childcare provision, people with disabilities 
and structural employment. The Katanning-focused subregional plan is consistent 
with and will complement the State Government’s policy of supporting a strong, 
revitalised TAFE sector. 

ECONOMIC GROWTH AND DIVERSIFICATION 

Major Projects Register 
The GSDC continued to maintain a major projects register to provide regular updates 
on significant industry, infrastructure and construction-related initiatives that are being 
undertaken in the region. The aim of the register is to inform interested parties and 
the community of the status of major projects and to maximise local and regional 
business and employment opportunities. New developments are listed on the 
GSDC’s website and publicised through the GSDC Bulletin. Highlights for the year 
included the completion of the Australian Football League Stadium at Centennial 
Park and CBH’s grain depot at Down Road, and progress on the refurbishment of the 
Katanning Hospital. 
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Tourism Industry Development and Promotion 
In 2016-17, the GSDC’s focus was on fostering active partnerships with relevant 
agencies, local governments, communities and tourism sector businesses. By 
building on business case planning completed in 2015-16, the Commission was able 
to support funding applications for enabling infrastructure development and 
marketing programs. 
Through the Community Chest Fund (CCF) Round 2, the GSDC supported the Lower 
Great Southern Economic Alliance with $32,000 for a Tourism Development 
Strategy. The final document establishes clear goals, a vision and implementation 
plan to achieve a sustainable tourism sector for the subregion. The project was 
completed in April 2017 with the agreed goals and vision linking a stronger tourism 
sector to achieving a more diversified economic base. A key metric in measuring this 
outcome will be the achievement of 3 million bed nights by 2021. A series of 
initiatives have been developed to guide the vision and these will be implemented by 
a Tourism Advisory Group, a sub-committee of the alliance. 
Under Round 6 of the Regional Grants Scheme (RGS), $200,000 was allocated by 
the GSDC to support the furniture fit-out and the IT hardware to be included in the 
Albany Tourism and Information Hub Library Upgrade. A further $65,000 of RGS 
funding was allocated to the Shire of Jerramungup to support construction of the trail 
and lookouts for the Bremer Bay to Point Henry project. In a strategic cross-regional 
initiative, $68,825 was allocated to the Shire of Manjimup for the Pioneer Park and 
Walpole Nornalup Visitor Centre Enhancement project. In a longer term heritage 
tourism project, the GSDC supported the National Trust of Australia with RGS 
funding of $50,001 to undertake planning and design works to upgrade The Old Farm 
Strawberry Hill in Albany. 
A range of activities were directly supported by the GSDC including Taste Great 
Southern, Hidden Treasures Bloom Festival, Denmark Festival of Voice and a 
marketing strategy for the region’s premium wine producers. 
The GSDC continued its role in coordinating the Great Southern Marketing Network 
and provided project officer support where local governments and community 
organisations chose to undertake strategic marketing and business planning in order 
to enhance a range of tourism products. 

Partnership with Australia’s South West 
On 1 October 2016, a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was signed for a three-
year period between the Great Southern Development Commission, Australia’s 
South West (ASW) and the South West Development Commission. The MOU 
agreement was formed to facilitate partnerships on a range of projects that aim to 
support and develop the tourism industry in the Great Southern and South West. The 
overall intention is to encourage product development and to maximise marketing 
opportunities in order to reach the State’s tourism goal of $2 billion in visitor spend in 
the ASW region by 2020. 
In Round 4 of the RGS, the GSDC allocated $25,000 to ASW to deliver a Targeted 
Capacity Building Program (TCBP) in the Great Southern, an initiative previously 
identified as a result of extensive consultation with industry operators. There were 
two elements to the TCBP: Specialised mentoring and business-to-business 
mentoring. Specialised mentoring was conducted by a professional consultant giving 
operational advice and specific training needs. Business-to-business mentoring 
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involved connecting operators with similar businesses located either within or outside 
the region. 
In total, 20 businesses were selected to participate in the specialised mentoring 
program. Following the program, reports were submitted by the consultants. The 
businesses mentored reported increased knowledge around key performance 
indicators, market readiness and additional skills development. Operators who 
participated in the business-to-business mentoring program were given first-hand 
experience of other similar businesses and learned about tourism best practice 
through visiting award-winning operators. 
In March 2017, in conjunction with Australia’s South West, the GSDC and the City of 
Albany hosted a dinner and in-depth briefings for inbound Chinese tourism agencies 
and investors. The presentations, delivered in two of the region’s iconic locations, 
were well received and exemplified a more strategic approach to accessing this 
growing market. 

Great Southern Events 
In 2016-17 the GSDC supported 
established regional events including the 
Great Southern Festival program of the 
Perth International Arts Festival (PIAF), 
the Hidden Treasures Bloom Festival 
and Taste Great Southern. The 
Commission continues to be the 
principal regional sponsor of all three 
events and contributed $65,864 to the 
2017 Great Southern Festival (PIAF) 
under the Regional Grants Scheme. 
The 2017 Great Southern Festival was 
the fifteenth in the series of this event, 
which brings national and international 
performers to the region. The festival was initiated by the GSDC in partnership with 
PIAF in 2003, due substantially to the drive and goodwill of former PIAF Director 
Sean Doran. The 2017 festival featured sweet vocal harmonies from South Africa’s 
Vuyani Ensemble, a public participation art event called the Museum of Water, and 
rock and soul music from Nathaniel Rateliff and the Night Sweats. 
Through multi-year commitments, the Community Chest Fund contributed $50,000 to 
Taste Great Southern, $50,000 to the Hidden Treasures Bloom Festival and $50,000 
to the Denmark Festival of Voice. 
Events supported under the Community Chest Fund in 2016-17 also included: 

• Great Southern Sustainable Living Festival - $15,000 
• Vintage Sports Car Club Albany Classic Motor Event - $15,000 
• Katanning Landcare Ecoweek - $45,700 
• Southern Dirt Techspo - $50,000 
• Expedition Race/Adventure Racing World $38,382 

The Albany Classic Motor Event, supported by 
the GSDC, draws a crowd on the June long 
weekend. 
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Great Southern Centre for Outdoor Recreation Excellence (GSCORE) 
A partnership between GSDC, the Department of Local Government, Sport and 
Cultural Industries and the Albany Chamber of Commerce and Industry has 
established the Great Southern Centre of Outdoor Recreation Excellence (GSCORE) 
– an initiative to build programs and enterprises focused on outdoor recreation 
excellence in the region. 
The region-wide GSCORE project includes the development of one or more themed 
adventure centres and lodges, marketing initiatives, an online presence and research 
activities. The three-year innovative project, supported by $300,000 in Royalties for 
Regions funding through the Regional Grants Scheme, aims to increase nature-
based and adventure tourism, boost outdoor recreation and better connect people 
with the environment. As part of the project, an Outdoor Recreation Development 
Strategy will be developed for the region, a blueprint which will assist Local and State 
Government agencies, as well as the commercial sector, to identify opportunities for 
investment. 

Hidden Treasures of the Great Southern 
The GSDC continued to work closely with the Hidden Treasures of the Great 
Southern group through 2016-17. The group comprises the nine northern shires of 
the region, and included the Shire of Plantagenet from mid-2016. Its aim is to jointly 
promote the tourism product, experiences and activities in participating Shires and 
the relevant communities.  
Through the Community Chest Fund, the GSDC has supported key activities in the 
Hidden Treasures tourism marketing plan including the rebranding project and the 
annual Bloom Festival.  
In 2016-17, Hidden Treasures undertook the following major activities: 

• Production and distribution of the fifth edition of the Hidden Treasures Tourist 
Guide, utilising the new branding and style guide. 

• Presentation of an information stand at the Caravan and Camping Show in 
Perth in March 2017, which attracted 48,000 people over the five days and at 
which 1,700 copies of the new tourist guide were distributed. A key outcome of 
the event was the contact made with the organisers of the 2019 National 
Caravan Clubs Rally in Albany. This also allowed the delivery of a further 260 
booklets for the club’s members. 

• Coordination of the 2016 Bloom Festival, which comprised 52 events over the 
nine Shires, attracting approximately 8,000 attendees. 

• Commencement of planning for the 2017 Bloom Festival, which will be held 
from 15 September to 15 October. 

Investment Attraction 
A key GSDC activity involves marketing the Great Southern to potential investors and 
to those seeking to relocate to the region. During 2016-17, the GSDC provided 
information to these client groups to help them make informed investment decisions. 
The researched material is often used by the companies concerned in scoping and 
feasibility studies, and for developing other business planning tools. 
The GSDC’s investment clients during the period included proponents in renewable 
energy generation, agricultural products, fish processing, aquaculture and tourism. 
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The GSDC also liaises with both local and Perth-based businesses from various 
industry sectors where there is potential to expand business operations in the Great 
Southern. 
The GSDC contributed $5,000 to a survey 
of food producers and processors in the 
Great Southern. The project, undertaken 
by Regional Development Australia – 
Great Southern and the Department of 
Agriculture and Food, was part of the 
Seizing the Opportunity in Agriculture’s 
Specialised Food Centre initiative. The 
report centred on constraints to, and 
identified strategies for, business growth 
with particular opportunities for dairy, 
brewing and distilling, aquaculture, fruit 
and berry production and salmon 
processing. 

Fishing and Aquaculture 
A $2.3 million State Government-funded shellfish hatchery being built at Frenchman 
Bay near Albany is a strategic asset for shellfish aquaculture. The multi-species 
hatchery should enable significant industry growth in that it will have the capacity to 
supply mollusc spat not only to existing and future shellfish producers in the Great 
Southern, but also to those in the rest of the State and potentially elsewhere on a 
fee-for-service basis, thereby addressing a current key industry constraint. 
In another strategic development for the region, a south coast aquaculture zoning 
project is under way. The project is designed to lay the foundations and secure the 
required approvals for conducting shellfish aquaculture along the south coast from 
Augusta to Israelite Bay. Under this initiative, the Department of Fisheries is 
analysing the criteria for species and site selections to determine the most suitable 
areas for shellfish aquaculture production. Once these sites have been identified and 
assessed, the department may undertake aquaculture trials to further validate the 
sites’ viability for large-scale commercial shellfish production. 
Aquaculture zones on the south coast will provide major rural employment 
opportunities and increase the region's marketability in attracting aquaculture 
developments. Broader industry growth stimulated by their establishment will also 
generate new full-time direct jobs as well as substantial, additional flow-on effects for 
local businesses and service industries. 
In 2016-17, the GSDC continued its membership on the State Marine Aquaculture 
Development Plan steering committee, which is convened by the Department of 
Fisheries. The plan, once completed, will provide guidance on a unified and 
coordinated approach to growing the State’s aquaculture industry. 

Dairy Farming 
The GSDC worked with the Department of Regional Development’s WA Open for 
Business unit to investigate the south coast’s potential for establishing a large-scale 
dairy operation based on a model that is currently under development at Dandaragan 
in the Mid West. Large scale dairies increasingly have vertically integrated supply 

Delegations welcomed to the Great Southern 
in 2016-17 included representatives from 
Japan accompanying the Governor of Hyogo 
prefecture, Mr Toshizo Ido. 
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chains and possess economies of scale which enable them to compete 
internationally. Such operations require a relatively large water supply. The Albany 
area is endowed with a mild climate and recently identified major groundwater 
sources, and this should result in a competitive advantage for this type of dairy farm.  

Aboriginal Economic Development 
In 2016-17, the GSDC worked on a range of education, training, employment and 
business opportunities with Aboriginal organisations, community based groups and 
individuals. External partners included State and Commonwealth agencies. The 
Commission’s main activities continued to be in the areas of project support, 
information and policy advice, and these included: 

• Working with the Gnowangerup Aboriginal Corporation and Shire of 
Gnowangerup to explore the feasibility of training and mentoring programs 
associated with the Gnowangerup Training Centre 

• Working with the Badgebup Aboriginal Corporation and Indigenous Land 
Corporation on business planning for the development of a resource and 
training centre at Badgebup 

• Providing support for local Indigenous custodians and advice to local 
government on strategies for the long-term sustainability of the Carrolup-
Marribank heritage asset 

• Progress in the planning for the development of the Maalak Tourism and 
Community Centre in Cranbrook, with the landowner representatives and the 
local authority 

• Liaising with State Government and regional Aboriginal corporations on the 
governance arrangements that will precede the implementation of the South 
West Native Title Settlement 

• Continuing to work with existing Indigenous enterprises and tourism centres 
which have a cultural/heritage focus (e.g. Gnowangerup Heritage Centre, 
Kodja Place). 

Southdown Magnetite Mine  
The GSDC continued to liaise with Grange Resources regarding its proposed 
magnetite mine at Wellstead. In February 2017, the GSDC met with Grange 
management at its Savage River mine in Burnie, Tasmania, to discuss opportunities 
to progress the $3 billion development. 
To date, Grange has invested some $180 million satisfying the licensing and other 
statutory requirements, thereby demonstrating a continued high level of commitment 
to the project. A substantial portion of this investment was expended on the purchase 
of goods and services in the Great Southern. 

Regional Development Australia – Great Southern 
During 2016-17, the GSDC continued to work closely with Regional Development 
Australia – Great Southern (RDA-GS) on a range of economic and social 
development initiatives. The high level of cooperation, which includes Board 
membership and regular interagency consultation, is consistent with the provisions of 
the Memorandum of Understanding which has been in place since 2010.  
Over the period, there was a transition in the grant programs from the National 
Stronger Regions (NSRF Rounds 2 and 3) to the Building Better Regions Fund 



 
 

 
GSDC ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 

Page 25 

Great Southern Development Commission 
Building partnerships for regional prosperity 

(BBRF). Through Rounds 2 and 3 of the NSRF, four Great Southern projects 
received grants to a total of almost $2.25 million. 
The new BBRF comprises two elements, Infrastructure and Community. The first 
round of the program closed early in 2017 and saw eleven project applications by 
regional proponents requesting $23.5 million from the program. Successful applicants 
will be advised in early 2017-18. 

ESSENTIAL INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES 

Regional Centres Development Plan 
In 2016-17, the GSDC continued its involvement in the Regional Centres 
Development Plan Stage One (RCDP, or Katanning SuperTown) Project Advisory 
Group.  
Through the priority recommendations identified in the Katanning SuperTown Growth 
and Implementation Plan, significant public investment in Katanning includes: 

• $8.7 million for the Heritage Precinct, Town Centre and Streetscape 
Revitalisation Project, through the RCDP 

• $350,000 for the Stage 2 of the Katanning Mainstreet Project 
• $5.75 million for the Early Childhood Hub 
• $15.7 million for the Katanning SuperTown Heritage Centre Project (Welcome 

Precinct and Piesse Lake residential land development and Botanic Garden). 
State Government investment in the RCDP was understood to be a significant factor 
in Dome Cafe Group’s decision to undertake a major development of a boutique 
hotel in the heritage-listed Premier Roller Flour Mill. The development has attracted 
$7 million of private investment and $500,000 by the Shire of Katanning. The 
development will provide high standard accommodation, wine bar and a café, and is 
expected to open in late 2017. 

Energy Infrastructure 
In 2016-17, the State Government committed $19.5 million to developing a Wave 
Energy Project, which will comprise an industry-driven technology development 
component and a Wave Energy Centre of Excellence at Albany. The centre is 
intended to bring together university resources and those of the private sector to help 
secure Albany’s place as a global hub for renewable energy. The completed project 
is intended to put WA at the leading edge of applied wave energy technology. The 
GSDC will continue to engage with all of the relevant stakeholders to assist in 
bringing the overall project to fruition. 

Albany Waterfront Development 
The Albany Waterfront development project, which was completed in June 2011, was 
a partnership between the GSDC and LandCorp. The other key stakeholders were, 
and remain, the City of Albany and the Department of Transport. In addition to the 
marina (which may be expanded in future), boat ramps and a service wharf, the 
central component was the six serviced freehold lots slated for the development of 
commercial buildings, tourist accommodation and entertainment. The Albany 
Entertainment Centre (AEC) was delivered by the GSDC in 2010. 
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The Department of Transport has continued its management of the marina and 
associated infrastructure, which has facilitated the establishment of a whale watching 
and marine recreation centre and coffee shop. All of the Waterfront’s public spaces 
remain the responsibility of the City of Albany. 
LandCorp has successfully marketed the commercial lots. The development of a 
café, tavern and bottle shop was completed in October 2014. By mid-2017, most of 
the lots had been sold, including the hotel site, and only Lot 1 (a mixed use site 
adjoining the AEC) remained available. The developments on these lots will be the 
subject to the City’s planning and development approvals process in terms of the 
commercial and residential accommodation mix. 

Telecommunications Infrastructure 
Mobile phone users in the Great Southern benefited from gains in coverage through 
improved infrastructure provided through the Regional Telecommunications Project 
(RTP) in 2016-17. The RTP is a State-wide initiative with a budget of $65 million over 
four years from 2015 to 2018. The GSDC liaised with the Department of Commerce 
to develop a list of potential mobile service sites for the region. 
In 2016-17, new services were activated at Borden, Peaceful Bay and Perillup, 
bringing the total under RTP in the region to seven towers. They are among 27 new 
sites that will be provided in the region through the RTP, many also supported by the 
Commonwealth Government’s Mobile Black Spot Programs. The balance of the sites 
will be rolled out over the life of the RTP to 2018. A further three sites will be provided 
through arrangements between Telstra and the Commonwealth program. 

COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONMENT 

Great Southern Regional Grants Scheme 
The Great Southern Regional Grants Scheme (RGS) is a State Government program 
with the following objectives: 

• Increase capacity for local strategic planning and decision-making 
• Retain and build the benefits of regional communities 
• Promote relevant and accessible local services 
• Assist communities to plan for a sustainable economic and social future 
• Enable communities to expand social and economic opportunities 
• Assist regional communities to prosper through increased employment, 

business and industry development opportunities, and improved local 
services. 

RGS Round 6, which closed on 27 September 2016, funded 11 projects to the value 
of $1,536,667. The round drew 22 applications, with a total requested value of 
$3,641,680. A rigorous assessment and approval process was undertaken that 
included scrutiny by internal assessors, an external assessor, the GSDC Board and 
the Minister for Regional Development.  
The GSDC administered a number of still active projects from earlier rounds of the 
RGS. At 30 June 2017, all RGS funding from Rounds 1 to 4 had been expended, and 
eight projects from Round 5 remained to be acquitted. 
In 2016-17, notable events related to the RGS program included openings or 
milestones for the Gnowangerup Swimming Pool, Nyabing Community Hub, 
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Denmark Riverside Club, Albany Agricultural Society and the Albany Men’s Shed, 
among others. 

Community Chest Fund 
The Community Chest Fund (CCF) was established in 2014-15 to complement the 
Regional Grants Scheme by offering relatively small grants to local organisations. 
CCF Round 3 opened on 1 August 2016. The Commission received 24 applications 
by the closing date of 19 September 2016. Twenty projects shared $555,556 in 
funding following the assessment and approval process including scrutiny by internal 
assessors, the GSDC Board and the Minister for Regional Development. Funding for 
these projects commenced on 1 July 2017. 
CCF projects in 2016-17 included youth arts programs through the Albany Youth 
Support Association, the fit-out of new facilities at the Centennial Park development, 
work on the Twertup Field Studies Centre and a nature playground at the Albany 
Occasional Child Care Centre. 

Local Projects-Local Jobs 
The purpose of the Local Projects-Local Jobs program is to drive greater local 
employment and community benefit from State Government and other investments in 
the region. The projects and funding approved by State Cabinet assisted a range of 
local community organisations to deliver upgrades to community facilities, initiatives 
and program expansions. 
The GSDC oversaw the contracts and funding arrangements for 27 projects, which 
shared $1 million in funding prior to 30 June 2017. 

Katanning Early Childhood Hub 
Planning for the Katanning Early Childhood Hub (ECH) began in 2011. The project 
was driven by a community-based committee with the aim of establishing a centre to 
bring together early childhood services, many of which were working in relative 
isolation and geographically separated. The ECH is intended to provide a one-stop-
shop for families, support easy referral between services, and facilitate the integration 
of services for children from 0 to 8 years of age. 
The centre will be able to accommodate future population growth and will allow 
organisations to share resources and to make joint applications for funding. The new 
building will also facilitate partnerships to address local challenges and opportunities, 
attract new related services to town, and it will be the central point for early childhood 
development information. Most importantly, the integrated service that will be 
extended from a hub has been shown to significantly improve a participating child's 
development. Therefore, when fully operational, the hub aims to improve life 
outcomes for all children in Katanning and in the surrounding subregion. 
In February 2015 the ECH project was awarded $5,725,000 in State Government 
funding. Through 2016-17, the GSDC continued its involvement in the project 
through the Project Advisory Group. 

GSDC Medal – Recognition of World First 
The GSDC Medal is awarded biennially to celebrate innovation and leadership in the 
management of natural resources in the region. Throughout 2016-17, the recipient of 
the 2016 medal, Mr Geoff Bastyan, implemented a seagrass restoration trial in 
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Princess Royal Harbour, which was funded through the $12,000 grant associated 
with the award.  
Mr Bastyan was awarded the medal in recognition of his work, undertaken over three 
decades, on the self-funded monitoring of seagrasses in Albany’s harbours and 
initiation of seagrass restoration efforts. This initiative has been successful even 
though the prevailing opinion was that degraded seagrass areas could not be 
restored. Mr Bastyan’s work has received international recognition, with marine 
expert Professor Carlos Duarte, former head of UWA’s Oceans Institute, saying that, 
to his knowledge, Mr Bastyan was the first person in the world to successfully 
transplant seagrass. Mr Bastyan’s work has led to substantial improvements in the 
environmental health of Oyster Harbour and Princess Royal Harbour. 
Mr Bastyan’s current project involves the use of jute matting to supress worm activity 
in recovery areas of Posidonia sp and Amphibolis sp in the harbour. This supported 
his hypothesis that marine worms have been preventing the revegetation of these 
species by disturbing the substrate and releasing nutrients into the water.  
In addition to the trial, Mr Bastyan has used his grant to develop an Oyster Harbour 
recovery information pack. In this he has used aerial images from 1989 to 2016 as a 
significant visual tool to show the recovery of the harbour, including the improvement 
in water quality and the spread of seagrass over time.  

Fitzgerald Biosphere 
The listing of the internationally recognised Fitzgerald Biosphere was reviewed under 
the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) Man 
and the Biosphere Program. Biosphere reserves are land and coastal ecosystems 
that are protected in order to support the conservation of biodiversity and to enable 
research on the sustainability of human interactions with the environment. 
The GSDC provided funding assistance to the Biosphere Implementation Group, an 
organisation made up of land managers in the extensive zone, to develop an action 
plan to support the renomination of the Fitzgerald Biosphere and guide future 
activities. 
In 2016-17, the renomination was signed off by the State and Australian Government 
and submitted to UNESCO. In January 2017, the International Advisory Committee 
for Biosphere Reserves met and recommended the renomination of the Fitzgerald 
Biosphere for examination and endorsement by the Man and the Biosphere 
International Coordinating Committee at its June 2017 session.  

Lake Ewlyamartup 
Lake Ewlyamartup was one of two lakes selected for inclusion in the Department of 
Regional Development’s (DRD) Living Lakes program. DRD has previously 
appointed consultants to develop costed engineering and implementation plans to 
improve the targeted lakes’ water quality.  
Continuing progress at Lake Ewlyamartup builds on the efforts of the Katanning 
Landcare working group under its Restoring Lake Ewlyamartup project. Funding from 
the GSDC-Tourism WA Transition Fund in 2013 was used to prepare a Recreation 
Area Plan and leveraged nearly $400,000 in additional funds for the implementation 
of the plan. The additional funding came from the Department of Transport’s 
Recreational Boating Facilities Scheme, Lotterywest, CBH and Katanning Rural 
Youth. 
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In November 2016, the State Government announced $3.7 million under the Living 
Lakes program to implement cutting edge engineering solutions to enhance water 
quality at the Ewlyamartup and Yealering lakes. In addition to the environmental 
outcomes, the initiative is expected to increase opportunities for recreational and 
tourism activities. 
The project is managed by Wheatbelt Natural Resource Management, and the GSDC 
is represented on the Project Control Group. It is anticipated tenders will be awarded 
in October 2017 for the engineering works. 

South Coast Natural Resource Management 
Through 2016-17, the GSDC continued to be represented on the South Coast 
Natural Resource Management (SCNRM) Advisory Committee. In undertaking its 
lead agency role in natural resource management, this organisation is funded by the 
Commonwealth Government through the National Landcare program, State NRM 
and by fee-for-service projects. 
Over the twelve years of its operation, SCNRM has consistently coordinated program 
funding through its associated catchment groups and other stakeholder bodies 
across a significant part of the State’s southern coastal and adjoining inland regions. 
Through its Albany and Esperance offices, and wider network of operatives, SCNRM 
has sustained a strong level of community, industry and government support. 
Significant achievements in 2016-17 included: 

• Production of the South Coast Snapshot, a situation statement on the current 
state and trend of natural resource conditions in the SCNRM region 

• Continuing the Southern Soils project, addressing soil health issues including 
soil biology, acidity, erosion, water repellence and nutrient matching 

• Continuation of the Cultural Connections project, involving Aboriginal people in 
sustainable natural resource management and in the protection and 
restoration of significant cultural locations. 

KNOWLEDGE AND INNOVATION 

Centre of Excellence in Natural Resource Management 
The Centre of Excellence in Natural Resource Management (CENRM) is an Albany-
based research and teaching centre at the University of Western Australia (UWA). It 
was established as an initiative of UWA and the GSDC, with the financial and in-kind 
support of a number of State and other entities, including the Commonwealth through 
the then Great Southern Area Consultative Committee.  
Throughout 2016, CENRM continued its involvement in a wide range of regional, 
national and international research initiatives. Major research programs that 
continued during 2016 included: 

• Restoring native oyster beds in Oyster Harbour for broad eco-system benefits 
• Climate change impacts on Mediterranean climate regions  
• Role of vertebrates in plant pollination 
• Pollution of marine habitats and animals by plastics 
• Health of soils in agricultural landscapes 
• Ecology of urban rivers and wetlands 
• Kimberley Indigenous Saltwater Science Project. 
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CENRM continues to support the wider community through involvement in 
committees and advisory boards. Through the Great Southern Science Council, 
CENRM contributed to National Science Week activities such as ‘Science Rocks’. 
Staff also contribute to regional national and international committees and reference 
groups including regional biodiversity and water reference groups and the 
international Stewardship Council for Aquaculture. 
In collaboration with the UWA Albany and Perth campuses, CENRM has continued to 
develop undergraduate and postgraduate teaching portfolios. Student numbers 
continue to increase. In mid-2017, CENRM employed 12 teaching, research and 
administration staff and an additional 17 casual teaching and research staff. Four 
adjunct research staff and one senior honorary research fellow are also attached to 
the centre. Since 2012, the GSDC has financially supported the Chair in Biodiversity 
at CENRM, which is currently filled by the eminent plant biologist Professor Stephen 
Hopper. 
CENRM attracted a total income of $1.2 million in 2016 and produced more than 30 
peer-reviewed publications, technical reports and conference proceedings. CENRM 
staff supervised three Honours students, nine PhD candidates and four master’s 
degree students. 
CENRM has maintained a high standard of teaching and research and has had the 
continued support of the community and the GSDC. Throughout 2016-17, the GSDC 
continued to chair the CENRM Advisory Board. 

A Smart Start 
A Smart Start is an early childhood intervention initiative, which was developed in the 
Great Southern region in 2001 to meet locally identified needs. The program provides 
families with children from birth to four years with the foundation skills required for 
life-long learning and social interaction, plus physical and mental well-being. The 
initiative supports health and development milestones across all five developmental 
domains and aims to improve outcomes for children in the years before school. The 
Great Southern Regional Investment Blueprint identified A Smart Start as a key 
activity under the Strong Communities transformational project. 
Through 2016-17, the GSDC worked closely with the A Smart Start Great Southern 
Committee to implement the Transition to Sustainability (T2S) project, which was 
funded by Lotterywest and the Commission. The T2S project will support the 
transition of the A Smart Start Initiative to a sustainable regional delivery model, 
through: 

• Establishing processes and governance to ensure long-term 
sustainability 

• Re-engaging with volunteers and communities across the region 
• Refocusing the initiative to ensure target groups are being supported  
• Developing a funding strategy to secure partnerships with existing 

funders and develop new partnerships. 
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EFFICIENT AGENCY PERFORMANCE 

Capital Purchases 
In April 2009 the asset capitalisation limit was raised from $1000 to $5000. The 
Commission replaces Capital items as per its 10 year Asset Replacement Plan. 
During 2016-17, the Commission made one significant equipment purchase, a 
Konica Minolta Photocopier (replaces Ricoh Multi photocopier). 

Complaints Management Policy 
The GSDC values its working relationships and partnerships and is committed to 
providing its customers with high quality services. A Complaints Management Policy 
(CMP) is in place to manage client criticisms. Through the CMP process, any 
complaints received are investigated and, if shown to be necessary, improvements 
are made to the Commission’s operational methodology. 
The CMP accords with Government policy and its provisions are accessible through 
the GSDC website. The contact details of the Complaints Officer are: 

Chief Executive Officer 
Great Southern Development Commission 
PO Box 280 
ALBANY WA 6331 

The GSDC received no complaints during 2016-17. 

Risk Management and Internal Audit Arrangements 
The GSDC takes a strategic risk-based approach to the management of the 
organisation and has established the Risk Management and Audit Committee, a 
subcommittee of the Board. All recommendations from the Risk Management and 
Audit Committee are referred to the full Board. 
In addition to an annual review of the Commission’s Risk Management Plan and 
regular reassessment of all business risks, the Risk Management and Audit 
Committee oversee the implementation of internal audit arrangements. 
The scope of audit is to cover the assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the following core business risk management areas: 

• Grant programs 
• Projects 
• Human resources 
• Financial management 
• Assets 
• Information systems 
• Board governance. 

On an annual basis, the committee prioritises the activities to be audited. During 
2016-17, audits were undertaken on Human Resource Management, Project 
Management and Information Systems Management. 

Freedom of Information Statement 
The GSDC holds information in hard copy and electronic form. Documents held 
include inward and outward correspondence, contracts, agreements, reports, 
administrative files, personnel records, project files, financial records, internal 
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manuals, statistical information, minutes of meetings, promotional material, 
pamphlets and brochures, human resource information and asset records. 
The GSDC does not charge for brochures. With the exception of requests lodged 
under the Freedom of Information Act 1992, no charge is levied on requests for 
information or for access to files, although the agency does reserve the right to 
recoup costs in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 1992. The contact 
details of the Freedom of Information Coordinator are: 

Regional Manager Community & Corporate 
Great Southern Development Commission 
PO Box 280 
ALBANY WA 6331 

The GSDC received one request for information under the Freedom of Information 
Act 1992 in 2016-17. 
  



 
 

 
GSDC ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 

Page 33 

Great Southern Development Commission 
Building partnerships for regional prosperity 

3.7% 
6.3% 

15.4% 

7.4% 

-5.4% 

5.8% 

11.4% 

4.5% 6.0% 

-1.0% 

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

05/06 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

Real Gross Regional Product Percentage Change 

Source: GRP estimates calculated by the Department of Regional Development using Australian Bureau of 
Statistics data 

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND TRENDS 

In 2016-17 the GSDC was advised that Machinery of Government changes would be 
implemented. As at 1 July 2017, all GSDC employees (excluding the CEO) will be 
amalgamated with the Departments of Fisheries, Agriculture and Food, and Regional 
Development to form a new agency, the Department of Primary Industry and 
Regional Development. The GSDC entity will remain, with the CEO and GSDC Board 
being remunerated through this entity. 
The following information provides an overview of the environment in which the 
GSDC operates and reports on the economic health of the region. Statistics in this 
section are the latest available at the time of publication. 

Gross Regional Product 
Gross Regional Product (GRP) measures the region’s economic wealth. It represents 
the value of production within the region at market prices. The chart shows the 
annual percentage change in real GRP (adjusted for inflation) over the past ten 
years. Real GRP was estimated at $3.68 billion in 2014-15, down slightly from $3.71 
billion in 2013-14. Agriculture makes up the largest share of the Great Southern 
GRP, therefore factors including seasonal variation in production, commodity prices 
and exchange rates will have an impact from one year to the next. 
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Unemployment 
The Great Southern’s unemployment rate in June 2016 was 6.1 per cent, up from the 
previous year’s figure of 3.7 per cent. 

 

Construction and Building 
The graph below shows the value of construction approvals for the Great Southern 
as a whole and for the City of Albany. Construction approvals for the region in 2015-
16 were valued at $179.9 million, down 11 per cent from the previous year. 
Construction activity in Albany made up 67 per cent of the value of approvals in 
2015-16. 
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Population 
The estimated resident population of the Great Southern at 30 June 2015 was 
60,169, an increase of 0.7 per cent from 2014. The graph below shows that the 
region as a whole has experienced steady population growth over the decade. 

 

Regional Economy 
In 2016-17, primary production continued to be the main driver of the region’s 
economy and its largest employer. Grain and livestock were again, by value of 
production, the key components of the Great Southern agricultural sector, which 
remained the second largest in the State. Other significant primary industry sectors 
were plantation blue gum timber, fishing, aquaculture, viticulture and horticulture. 
Most sectors experienced some emerging opportunities to diversify the product mix, 
or value-add through processing. There was a steady expansion of free range pork 
and chicken production and further investor interest in horticulture, plantation timber 
and grains processing. 
For the region’s aquaculture producers, there was a significant investment in 
enabling infrastructure by the State Government. A new $2.3 million multi-species 
shellfish hatchery was committed to and is being built at the Albany Aquaculture 
Park, which is located at Frenchman Bay. The investment will enable WA producers 
to access a reliable supply of mollusc spat into the future. A research and planning 
funding allocation by the State Government in 2016-17 will see the establishment of 
‘investment ready’ aquaculture sites on the south coast. It is anticipated that by 
addressing environmental and other statutory planning, the initiative will significantly 
reduce approval times for large scale marine aquaculture projects and thereby 
encourage more private sector investment. 
The Great Southern’s tertiary education institutions continued to have a steady 
growth in student numbers, academic and training outcomes. The region retains an 
advantage in providing opportunities for a large number of local high schools 
graduates to undertake higher education and skills formation without having the need 
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to move to Perth. Momentum was maintained in steadily improving permanent 
employment outcomes for Indigenous youth through a range of education and 
training programs. The potential of the Great Southern’s institutions to build on the 
current quality education offering was enhanced during the period by higher levels of 
digital connectivity and by State Government investment in dedicated student 
accommodation, that will be located in the Albany CBD. These developments should 
lead to even more locally delivered course options, the attraction of international 
students and a critical mass of research and development resources that will 
increasingly support industry. 
A potent example of this emerging university/industry link was the State 
Government’s commitment in early 2017 to a $19.5 million investment in the Wave 
Energy Project. The initiative will include a technology development project and the 
establishment of a Wave Energy Research Centre that will be integrated with the 
existing UWA Albany Centre. Over the period of the industry-driven renewable 
energy technology component, the centre is projected to host up to 12 academics 
and a growing number of mainly engineering students. 
During 2016-17, the tourism sector continued to steadily grow in terms of both visitor 
numbers and in public and private sector investment. The sector’s main growth 
opportunities remain connected to the regional assets that are associated with the 
natural environment and with heritage and cultural-based attractions. Earlier 
investment decisions, by the State and local governments have resulted in increasing 
visitation to iconic attractions such as The Gap at Torndirrup, the National Anzac 
Centre and Fitzgerald River National Park. The extended killer whale observation 
season at Bremer Bay, whale watching at Albany and the increasing interest in the 
Hidden Treasures districts are all linked to the Great Southern’s nature-based assets.  
It was increasingly recognised by all public and private sector tourism industry 
stakeholders that sustainable growth will require further investment in product and in 
marketing. Formed in early 2017, the Lower Great Southern Economic Alliance has a 
strong immediate focus on destination marketing and a commitment to a longer term 
subregional strategy. In addition to marketing and product development, it has been 
acknowledged that there is a need for increasing levels of tourism enabling 
investment in transport infrastructure, telecommunications, accommodation and 
essential services, with support from the State Government. 
A steady price recovery in iron ore and precious metals on world markets during 
2016-17 improved the prospects of two planned Great Southern resource projects 
being able to attract the investment required to advance to the development stage. 
Both projects, the magnetite deposit at Wellstead and the proved-up gold resource 
near Katanning, have the potential to positively impact the regional economy by 
significantly increasing the demand for associated services and infrastructure, and 
the need for a permanent skilled work force. 
The region’s small business sector, one of the most dynamic in the State, maintained 
its activity in 2016-17. The range of services, retail and manufacturing continued to 
broaden the region’s economic base and, through its diversity, contributed to its 
resilience. A major State Government initiative in early 2017 was to better support 
local businesses and communities and to create more jobs by committing to 
maximise local content in its purchasing, particularly in relation to building and 
construction projects.  
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 
The accompanying financial statements of the Great Southern Development 
Commission have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the 
financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial 
position as at 30 June 2017. 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 

                          
ROWENA CARNABY BRUCE MANNING 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
17 AUGUST 2017 17 AUGUST 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
ROSS THORNTON 
CHAIRMAN 
17 AUGUST 2017 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 Note 2017 2016 
COST OF SERVICES    

Expenses    

Employee benefits expense 6 1,360,672 1,373,586 
Supplies and services 7 617,326 501,987 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 9 6,261 15,575 
Accommodation expenses 10 161,429 147,141 
Grants and subsidies 11 2,717,238 2,199,405 
Other expenses 12 78,430 76,085 
Total cost of services  4,941,356 4,313,779 
    
Income    
Revenue    
User charges and fees 13 48 3,174 
Other revenue 14 26,349 80,950 
Total Revenue  26,397 84,124 
    
Total income other than income from State 
Government  

26,397 84,124 

NET COST OF SERVICES  4,914,959 4,229,655 
    
Income from State Government    
Service appropriation 15 228,000 224,000 
Resources received free of charge 15 9,590 14,373 
Royalties for Regions Fund 15 4,505,666 3,923,055 
Grants and subsidies 15 64,002 65,680 
Total income from State Government  4,807,258 4,227,108 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  (107,701) (2,547) 
    
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  (107,701) (2,547) 

 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at 30 June 2017 Note 2017 2016 
ASSETS    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 26 279,141 338,579 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16 259,104 530,405 
Receivables 17 151,408 7,627 
Other Current Assets 18 2,994 - 
Total Current Assets  692,647 876,611 
    
Non-Current Assets    
Amounts receivable for services 19 226,000 226,000 
Plant and equipment 20 15,388 9,748 
Total Non-Current Assets  241,388 235,748 
TOTAL ASSETS  934,035 1,112,359 
    
LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    
Payables 22 5,289 5,087 
Provisions 23 311,864 384,838 
Total Current Liabilities  317,154 389,925 
    
Non-Current Liabilities    
Provisions 23 26,944 22,797 
Other non-current liabilities 24 97,413 99,413 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  124,357 122,210 
    
Total Liabilities  441,510 512,135 
NET ASSETS  492,524 600,224 
    
EQUITY    
Accumulated surplus 25 492,524 600,224 
TOTAL EQUITY  492,524 600,224 

 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 Note Contributed 
equity 

Accumulated 
surplus Total equity 

Balance at 1 July 2015 25 -  602,770 602,770 
     
Surplus/(deficit)  - (2,547) (2,547) 
Total comprehensive income for the period  - (600,224) (600,224) 
     
Balance at 30 June 2016  - 600,224 600,224 
     

Balance at 1 July 2016  
- 
 600,224 600,244 

     
Surplus/(deficit)  - (107,701) (107,701) 
Total comprehensive income for the 
period  - 492,524 492,525 
     
Balance at 30 June 2017 25 - 492,524 492,525 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 Note 2017 2016 
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    
Salaries and Allowances Tribunal  228,000 224,000 
Grants and Subsidies State Government  64,002 65,680 
Royalties for Regions Fund  4,505,667 3,923,056 
Net cash provided by State Government  4,797,669 4,212,736 
    
Utilised as follows:    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Payments    
Employee benefits  (1,429,499) (1,348,886) 
Supplies and services  (432,439) (310,697) 
Accommodation   (151,839) (137,899) 
Grants and subsidies  (2,719,239) (2,226,132) 
GST payments on purchases  (336,366) (284,776) 
GST payments to taxation Commission  - - 
Other payments  (78,430) (76,084) 
Receipts    
User charges and fees  48 3,174 
GST receipts on sales  (2,543) (9,852) 
GST receipts from taxation Commission  7,451 198,138 
Other receipts  26,350 80,951 
Net cash used in operating activities 26 (5,116,506) (4,112,063) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payments    
Purchase of non-current physical assets 20 (11,901) - 
Net cash used in investing activities 20 (11,901) - 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (330,738) 100,671 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period 

 
868,984 

 
768,313 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD 

26 
538,245 

 
868,984 

 
The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards 
General 
The Commission’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  The 
Commission has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates.  
Early adoption of standards 
The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no 
early adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not 
operative) by the Commission for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2017. 

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
(a) General statement 
The Commission is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer's instructions. Several 
of these are modified by the Treasurer's instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.  
The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's instructions impose legislative provisions that 
govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.  
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.  
(b) Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical 
cost convention.  
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.  
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.  
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that 
have been made in the process of applying the Commission’s accounting policies resulting in the most 
significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.  
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.  
(c) Reporting entity 
The reporting entity comprises the Commission and bodies included at note 34 “Related bodies”.  
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(d) Contributed equity 
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities 
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by 
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly 
to Contributed equity.  
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-
discretionary and non-reciprocal.  
(e) Income 
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue 
is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 
Provision of services 
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.  
Service appropriations 
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Commission 
gains control of the appropriated funds. The Commission gains control of appropriated funds at the time 
those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ 
(holding account) held at Treasury. 
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Commission obtains control over the assets comprising 
the contributions, usually when cash is received.  
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the 
services would be purchased if not donated.  
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the 
Commission obtains control over the funds. The Commission obtains control of the funds at the time the 
funds are deposited into the Commission’s bank account.  
Gains 
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the 
disposal of non-current assets.  
(f) Plant and equipment  
Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising 
assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of plant and equipment costing less than 
$5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).  
Initial recognition and measurement 
Plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. For items of plant and equipment acquired at no 
cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.  



 
 

 
GSDC ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 

Page 48 

Great Southern Development Commission 
Building partnerships for regional prosperity 

Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, historical cost is used by the Commission for all plant and 
equipment. All other items of plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  
Depreciation 
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.  
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. 
Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

Furniture and fittings 10 years 
Office equipment 5 years 
Computer Hardware and Software(a) 3 years 

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware 

(g) Impairment of assets 
Plant and equipment are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the 
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, 
unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.  
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.  
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment.  
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to 
market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at 
cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  
(h) Leases 
Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.  
(i) Financial instruments 
In addition to cash, the Commission has two categories of financial instrument: 

• Receivables; and 
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.  
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Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 
• Financial assets 

o Cash and cash equivalents 
o Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
o Receivables 
o Amounts receivable for services 

• Financial liabilities 
o Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to 
the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.  
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material.  
(j) Cash and cash equivalents 
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and 
cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.  
(k) Accrued salaries 
Accrued salaries (see note 22 - payables) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Commission 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.  
(l) Amounts receivable for services (holding account) 
The Commission receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an asset 
(holding account receivable). The accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the emergence of the 
cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.  
(m) Receivables 
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts 
(i.e. - impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables 
identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Commission will not be able 
to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 
30 days.  
(n) Payables 
Payables are recognised when the Commission becomes obliged to make future payments as a result 
of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is 
generally within 30 days.  
(o) Provisions 
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.  
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Provisions - employee benefits 
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of 
the reporting period.  
Annual leave 
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period 
and is therefore considered to be “other long term employee benefits” and is recognised and measured 
at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Commission does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.  
Long service leave 
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period and is therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Commission does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-
current liabilities because the Commission has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.  
Superannuation 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for 
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and 
implementation dates.  
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new 
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum 
scheme closed to new members since 1995.  
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and 
new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The 
Commission makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the 
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to 
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these accumulation schemes extinguish the Commission’s liability for superannuation charges in 
respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.  
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by the Commission to GESB extinguishes the agency’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability.  
The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the 
unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who 
transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are 
funded by concurrent contributions made by the Commission to the GESB.  
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.  
Provisions – other 
Employment on costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of 
the Commission’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs 
provision’.  
(p) Superannuation expense 
Superannuation expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises 
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS, and the GESBS, and other 
superannuation funds.  
(q) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost 
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Commission would otherwise 
purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they 
can be reliably estimated. A corresponding expense is recognised for services rendered. Receipts of 
assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets or services received from other 
State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
(r) Comparative figures 
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in 
the current financial year.  

Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application 
of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. The Commission evaluates these judgements regularly and it has been determined that 
there were no significant judgements made during the year.  

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.  
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Long Service Leave 
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Commission’s long service leave provision 
include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future 
payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the 
long service leave provision.  

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 
Initial application of an Australian Standard 
The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016 that impacted on the Commission. 
 

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and 
Interpretation), grouped where they are the same. There is no financial impact.  

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Accounting for Acquisitions of 
Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11] 
The Commission establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does 
not routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial 
impact on application of the Standard.  

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138] 
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Commission as 
depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue 
generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.  

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128] 
This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and 
AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for investments 
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. 
As the Commission has no joint ventures and associates, the application of the 
Standard has no financial impact.  

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements to 
Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 
119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140] 
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting 
Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle in September 2014, 
and editorial corrections. The Commission has determined that the application of 
the Standard has no financial impact.  

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049] 
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure 
requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus 
amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing 
presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use 
judgement when applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in 
their financial statements. There is no financial impact.  

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049] 
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The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-
profit public sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist 
application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. There is no 
financial impact. 

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Effective Date of Amendments to 
AASB 10 & 128 
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of 
amendments to AASB 10 & AASB 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 
so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. There is no 
financial impact.  

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the 
Commission has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been 
issued that may impact the Commission. Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply these 
Australian Accounting Standards from their application date. 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.  
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 
after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9, and AASB 2014-1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The Commission has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
This Standard establishes the principles that the Commission shall apply to 
report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a 
contract with a customer. 
The Commission's income is principally derived from appropriations which will 
be measured under AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and will be 
unaffected by this change. However, the Commission has not yet determined 
the potential impact of the Standard on ‘User charges and fees’ and ‘Sales’ 
revenues. In broad terms, it is anticipated that the terms and conditions 
attached to these revenues will defer revenue recognition until the Commission 
has discharged its performance obligations.  

1 Jan 2019 

AASB 16 Leases 
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a 
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.  
Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the entity currently 
has operating lease commitments for $261,394. The worth of non-cancellable 
operating leases which the Commission anticipates most of this amount will be 
brought onto the statement of financial position, excepting amounts pertinent to 
short-term or low-value leases. Interest and amortisation expense will increase 
and rental expense will decrease.  

1 Jan 2019 

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 
This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that 
apply to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic 
reality of NFP entity transactions that are not contracts with customers. Timing 
of income recognition is dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise to 

1 Jan 2019 
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a liability, or a performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), 
or, an obligation to acquire an asset. The Commission has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.  

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] 
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010. The mandatory application date of this Standard has been 
amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.  

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential 
amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the 
Commission to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.  

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of 
AASB 15. The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.  

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014) 
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of 
AASB 9 (December 2014). The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.  

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 
128] 
This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency 
between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), 
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture. The mandatory effective date (application date) for 
the Standard has been deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2015-10. The 
Commission has determined that the Standard has no financial impact.  

1 Jan 2018 

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is 
required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. For Not-For-Profit entities, the 
mandatory effective date has subsequently been amended to 1 January 2019 
by AASB 2016-7. The Commission has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of AASB 15.  

1 Jan 2019 

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107 
This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to 
require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no financial impact.  

1 Jan 2017 

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15 
This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus 
agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, 
and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Commission has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact.  

1 Jan 2018 
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AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable Amount of 
Non-Cash-Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities 
This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-
generating assets of not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in 
nature and held for continuing use of their service capacity, is expected to be 
materially the same as fair value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact.  

1 Jan 2017 

AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Deferral of AASB 15 for 
Not-for-Profit Entities 
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of 
AASB 15 and defers the consequential amendments that were originally set 
out in AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019, instead of 1 January 2018. There is no financial 
impact.  

1 Jan 2017 

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation 
Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities 
This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation 
guidance for not-for-profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance 
assists not-for-profit entities in applying those Standards to particular 
transactions and other events. There is no financial impact.  

1 Jan 2019 

AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Further Annual Improvements 
2014-2016 Cycle 
This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 by specifying that the disclosure 
requirements apply to an entity’s interests in other entities that are classified as 
held for sale, held for distribution to owners in their capacity as owners or 
discontinued operations in accordance with AASB 5. There is no financial impact.  

1 Jan 2017 

 

Note 6. Employee benefits expense 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave 
entitlements including superannuation contribution component.  

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contribution 
paid).  

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at note 12 
‘Other expenses’. Employment on-costs liability is included at note 23 ‘Provisions’. 

 
 

 2017 2016 
Wages and salaries(a) 1,120,328 1,101,390 
Superannuation – defined contribution plans(b)  138,482 137,297 
Long Service Leave 26,161 13,400 
Annual Leave 75,701 121,499 
Total employee benefits  1,360,672 1,373,586 



 
 

 
GSDC ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 

Page 56 

Great Southern Development Commission 
Building partnerships for regional prosperity 

Note 7. Supplies and services 

 
Note 8. Compensation of Key Management Personnel 
The Commission has determined the key management personnel include board members and senior 
officers of the Commission. 
Compensation of Members 
The numbers of members of the Great Southern Development Commission whose total fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the 2016-2017 financial year, fall within 
the following bands are: 

 2017 2016 
$0 - $ 3,000 4 3 
$3,001 - $10,000 3 5 
$10,001 - $20,000 - 1 
$20,001 - $30,000 - - 
$30,001 - $40,000 - - 
$40,001 - $50,000 - 1 
$50,001 - $60,000 1 - 

 

 2017 2016 
Short term employee benefits 73,627 78,668 
Post employment benefits - - 
Other long term benefits - - 
Termination benefits - - 
   
Total compensation of members of the Commission 73,627 78,668 

 
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of 
members of the Commission.  
  

 2017 2016 
Communications 39,768 38,975 
Consultants and contractors 41,849 51,626 
Consumables 84,777 74,576 
Travel 24,678 22,580 
Services and contracts 426,163 314,230 
Other 91 - 
Total supplies and services 617,326 501,987 
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Compensation of senior officers 
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the Great Southern 
Development Commission, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other 
benefits for the financial year fall within the following bands are: 

SALARY RANGE 2017 2016 
$130,000 - $140,000 - 1 
$140,001 - $150,000 2 - 
$150,001 - $160,000 - 1 
$160,001 - $170,000 - - 
$170,001 - $180,000 - - 
$180,001 - $190,000 - - 
$190,001 - $200,000 - - 
$200,001 - $210,000 - - 
$210,001 - $220,000 - - 
$220,001 - $230,000 - - 
$230,001 - $240,000 - - 
$240,001 - $250,000 - - 
$250,001 - $260,000 1 1 

 

 2017 2016 
Short term employee benefits 530,901 529,504 
Post employment benefits - - 
Other long term benefits - - 
Termination benefits - - 
   
Total compensation of senior officers 530,901 529,504 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of 
senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable Commission.  

Note 9. Depreciation and amortisation expense 

 
Note 10. Accommodation expenses 

 2017 2016 
Lease rentals 131,316 133,980 
Repairs and maintenance 15,012 - 
Cleaning 15,101 13,161 
Total accommodation expenses 161,429 147,141 

 2017 2016 
Depreciation   
Office equipment  2,087 1,890 
Computer hardware 3,960 13,172 
Furniture and fittings 214 513 
Total depreciation 6,261 15,575 
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Note 11. Grants and subsidies 
Recurrent  2017 2016 
Albany Chamber of Commerce and Industry - 5,000 
Albany Agricultural Society 121,000 - 
Albany and Regional Volunteers Service 4,109 - 
Albany Chamber of Commerce and Industry 31,000 - 
Albany Enterprise Group 25,000 - 
Albany Junior Soccer Association Inc 49,500 - 
Albany Kindergarten Association 30,000 - 
Albany Mountain Bike Club Inc 20,000 - 
Albany Netball Association 5,000 - 
Albany Occasional Child Care Centre 30,000 - 
Albany PCYC 30,000 - 
Albany Primary School 11,000 - 
Albany Sea Rescue Squad Inc 50,000 - 
Albany Senior High School 25,000 - 
Albany Speedway Club 50,000 - 
Albany Youth Support Association Inc 34,555 - 
Alzheimer’s Australia WA Pty Ltd 5,000 - 
Australia’s South West - 25,000 
Badgebup Aboriginal Corporation 27,000 - 
Bremer Bay Primary School 50,000 - 
Bremer Bay Sports Club Inc.  - 5,000 
Bremer Bay Volunteer Marine Rescue 25,000 - 
City of Albany 199,100 20,001 
Community Living Association Inc 40,000 - 
Creative Albany - 5,000 
Denmark Sea Rescue Group 65,000 - 
Denmark Tourism Inc.  25,000 16,500 
Flinders Park Primary School 30,000 - 
Frankland Country Club 18,500 - 
Friends of the Fitzgerald River National Park 24,000 - 
Gillamii Centre 40,001 - 
Gnowangerup Community Resource Centre 30,290 - 
Great Southern Storm Football Development Institute Inc 10,000 - 
Great Southern Wine Producers Association 10,000 - 
Green Skills Inc 162,500 - 
Jerramungup District High School 10,000 - 
Little Grove Primary School 64,000 - 
Management Solutions 52,000 24,000 
Mount Lockyer Primary School 20,000 - 
Mount Manypeaks Primary School 32,000 - 
National Trust Western Australia 50,001 - 
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Recurrent  2017 2016 
North Albany Football Club 78,000 - 
North Albany Senior High School 60,000 - 
Nyabing Progress Association 150,000 150,000 
Perth International Arts Festival 69,520 45,480 
Princess Royal Sailing Club 143,000 10,374 
Regional Development Australia Great Southern 5,000 - 
Screenwest - 1,518,750 
Shire of Cranbrook  143,809 7,500 
Shire of Denmark 58,800 - 
Shire of Gnowangerup  - 208,475 
Shire of Jerramungup 45,000 - 
Shire of Katanning 20,000 - 
Shire of Kent 119,400 10,000 
Shire of Kojonup 111,447 - 
Shire of Plantagenet - 100,000 
South Coast NRM 7,000 - 
Spencer Park Primary School 60,000 - 
Sporting Shooters Association Albany 40,000 - 
Torbay Catchment Group 34,000 - 
University of Western Australia 11,606 16,143 
Vintage Sports Car Club of WA Inc 15,000 - 
Wellstead Primary School 10,000 - 
Western Australian Fishing Industry Council - 5,000 
WOW Wilderness Eco Tours - 2,000 
Yakamia Primary School 10,000 - 
Grants Other 20,100 25,182 
Total grants and subsidies 2,717,238 2,199,405 

Note 12. Other expenses 
 2017 2016 
Equipment repairs and maintenance 11,109 6,221 
Staff costs (Learning and Development – staff training) 4,302 8,352 
Staff costs (Workers Compensation Insurance) 12,253 8,807 
Staff costs other 3,171 3,079 
Audit Fees  47,596 49,626 
Total other expenses 78,430 76,085 

Note 13. User charges and fees 
 2017 2016 
Project fees 48 3,174 
Total user charges and fees 48 3,174 
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Note 14. Other revenue 

Note 15. Income from State Government 
 2017 2016 
Service appropriation(a) 1,000 1,000 
Salaries and Allowances Tribunal 227,000 223,000 
Grants and Subsidies State Government 64,002 65,680 
 292,002 289,680 
Resources received free of charge 
Commission of Treasury – Building Management and Works 
State Solicitors Office 

 
9,590 

 
9,242 
5,131 

 9,590 14,373 
Royalties for Regions Fund:   
Regional and Statewide Initiative(a) 4,505,666 3,923,055 
Regional Community Services Account (b)   
Total Income from State Government 4,807,258 4,227,108 

(a) Service appropriation and Royalties for Regions fund the net cost of services delivered.  
(b) This is a sub-fund within the overarching Royalties for Regions Fund. The recurrent funds are 
committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.  

Note 16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
 2017 2016 
Current   
Restricted cash other 161,691 430,992 
Regional Development Scheme(a) 97,413 99,413 
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents 259,104 530,405 

(a) Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas. 

Note 17. Receivables 
 2017 2016 
Current   
GST receivable 151,408 7,627 
Total receivables 151,408 7,627 

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables. 
No receivables were past due but not impaired at year end. 
Note 18. Other Assets 

 2017 2016 
Prepayments 2,994 - 
Total other assets 2,994 - 

 2017 2016 
Other revenue 849 60,950 
Grants Received – Local Government 25,500 20,000 
Total other revenue 26,349 80,950 
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Note 19. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 

 2017 2016 
Current   
Non-current 226,000 226,000 
Total amounts receivable for services  226,000 226,000 

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used 
for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.  

Note 20. Plant and equipment 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of 
the reporting period are set out in the table below.  

 2017 2016 
Furniture and fittings   
At cost 5,290 5,290 
Accumulated depreciation (5,290) (5,076) 
 - 214 
Office equipment   
At cost 29,050 17,150 
Accumulated depreciation (17,032) (14,946) 
 12,018 2,204 
Computer Hardware and Software   
At cost 50,773 50,773 
Accumulated depreciation (47,404) (43,443) 
 3,370 7,330 
   
Total plant and equipment 15,388 9,748 

 
 Furniture and  

Fittings 
 

Office 
Equipment 

Computer 
Hardware 

& Software 

 
Total 

2017     
Carrying amount at start of period 214 2,204 7,330 9,748 
Additions - 11,900 -  11,900 
Disposals - - - - 
Depreciation (214) (2,086) (3,960) (6,260) 
Carrying amount at end of period - 12,018 3,370 15,388 

 
Note 21. Impairment of assets 

There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment at 30 June 2017.  
The Great Southern Development Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets 
not yet available for use.  
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Note 22. Payables 

 2016 2016 
Current   
GST Payable - - 
Accrued Salaries 4,911 - 
Accruals General 378 5,087 
Total payables 5,289 5,087 

Note 23. Provisions 
 2016 2016 
Current   
GST Payable - - 
Accrued Salaries 4,911 - 
Accruals General 378 5,087 
Total payables 5,289 5,087 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that 
actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur entirely within 12 months of the end of this 
reporting period.  

 2017 2016 
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 51,650 68,316 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 64,003 46,859 

 115,653 115,175 
(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to 

defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate 
that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as indicated in the above table.  

 2017 2016 
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 181,138 254,157 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 26,581 22,489 

 207,719 276,646 

 2017 2016 
Non-Current   
Employee benefits provision   
Long service leave(b) 26,581 22,489 
 26,581 22,489 
Other provisions   
Employment on-costs(c) 363 308 
 363 308 
   
Total non-current 26,944 22,797 
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(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment 
on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected 
future payments.  
 2017 2016 
Superannuation  26,822 32,434 
Workers Compensation  4,494 5,429 

 31,316 37,863 

Note 24. Other liabilities 
 2017 2016 
Non-current   
Grant liabilities(a) 97,413 99,413 
Total other liabilities 97,413 99,413 

a) Regional Development Scheme Grant paid on completion of milestones as per contract. 

Note 25. Equity 
The Government holds the equity interest in the Commission on behalf of the community. Equity 
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Commission. 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)   
 2017 2016 
Balance at start of period 600,224 602,770 
Result for the period (107,701) (2,547) 
Balance at end of period 492,524 600,224 

Note 26. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
Reconciliation of cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows. 

 2017 2016 
Cash and cash equivalents 279,141 338,579 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Note 16) 259,104 530,405 
Total cash held 538,245 868,984 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities 

 2017 2016 
Net cost of services (4,914,959) (4,229,655) 
Non-cash items:   
Depreciation expense  6,260 15,575 
Resources received free of charge  
State Solicitors Office 
Commission of Treasury – Building Management and Works 

 
- 

9,590 

 
5,131 
9,242 

 9,590 14,373 
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(Increase)/decrease in assets   
Other Current Assets - Prepayments (2,994) 544 
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:   
Current payables(a) 202 (101,722) 
Current provisions (72,974) 17,662 
Non-current provisions 4,147 7,038 
Other non-current liabilities (2,000) (26,726) 
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b) (187,677) (287,335) 
Change in GST in receivables/payables(c) 43,899 478,183 
Net cash used in operating activities (5,116,506) (4,112,063) 

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in 
respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the 
reconciling items.  

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.  
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.  

Note 27. Commitments 
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant. 
Lease commitments 
Motor Vehicles 2017 2016 
Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to operating leases 
are payable as follows: 

  

Within 1 year 25,608 18,896 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 19,431 26,628 
Later than 5 years - - 
Total motor vehicles 45,039 45,524 

The Commission has the option to purchase leased assets at their agreed fair value on expiry of the 
lease. These leasing arrangements do not have escalation clauses, other than in the event of payment 
default. There are no restrictions imposed by these leasing arrangements on other financing 
transactions.  
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

Office Accommodation 2017 2016 

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:   
Within 1 year 99,856 99,395 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 116,499 215,355 
Later than 5 years - - 
Total office accommodation 216,355 314,750 
   
Total lease commitments 261,394 360,274 
Representing   
Cancellable operating leases 45,039 45,524 
Non-cancellable operating leases 216,355 314,750 
Total lease commitments 261,394 360,274 

The Commission has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a five year 
term, with rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement 
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require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. An 
option exists to renew the lease at the end of the five-year term for two additional terms of five years. 
Note 28. Contingent liabilities  

At the end of the reporting period the Commission had no contingent liabilities.  
Note 29. Contingent assets 

At the end of the reporting period the Commission had no contingent assets.  
Note 30. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 

On 28 April 2017, the Premier of Western Australia announced significant changes to the public sector 
aimed at creating collaborative departments focused on whole-of-Government objectives. As of the 1 
July 2017, the departments of Agriculture and Food, Fisheries, and Regional Development 
amalgamated to establish the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD). 
Staff from the nine Regional Development Commissions (excluding the CEOs and Board Members) 
transferred to the new Department, although the Regional Development commissions remain as legal 
entities. 
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Note 31. Explanatory statement 

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2017 and between the actual results for 
2016 and 2017 are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10%. 

 Variance Original 
Budget 

Actual Actual Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

 Note 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016-2017 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 
(Controlled Operations) 

      

Employee benefits 
expense 

1 1,679 1,361 1,374 (318) (13) 

Supplies and services 2,A 257 617 502 360 115 
Depreciation and 
amortisation expense 

3,B 14 6 16 (8) (10) 

Accommodation expenses  179 162 147 (17) 15 
Grants and subsidies 4,C 1,536 2,717 2,199 1,181 518 
Other expenses 5 123 78 76 (45) 2 
Total cost of services  3,788 4,941 4,314 1,153 627 

Income       

Revenue       
User charges and fees 6 50 - 3 (50) (3) 
Other revenue 7,D 40 26 81 (14) (55) 

Total income  90 26 84 (64) (58) 
Total income other than 
income from State 
Government 

 90 26 84 (64) (58) 

NET COST OF SERVICES  3,698 4,915 4,230 1,217 685 
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 Variance Original 
Budget 

Actual Actual Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 

Variance 
 between 

actual 
results  

 Note 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016-2017 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Income from State 
Government 

      

Salaries and Allowances 
Tribunal 

 228 228 224 - 4 

Services received free of 
charge 

E 10 10 14 - (4) 

Royalties for Regions 
Fund 

8,F 3,505 4,506 3,923 1,001 583 

Grants and subsidies 9 - 64 66 64 (2) 
Total income from State 
Government 

 3,743 4,808 4,227 1,065 581 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 
FOR THE PERIOD 

 45 (108) (3) (152) (104) 

TOTAL 
COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE 
PERIOD 

  
45 

 
(108) 

 
(3) 

 
(152) 

 
(104) 

Statement of Financial 
Position 
(Controlled Operations) 

      

ASSETS       
Current Assets       
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

10,G 369 279 339 (90) (60) 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 

11,H 484 259 530 (225) (271) 

Receivables 12,I 197 151 8 (46) 143 
Other current assets 13,J 1 3 - 2 3 
Total current assets  1,051 693 877 (358) (184) 
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 Variance Original 
Budget 

Actual Actual Variance  
between 
estimate 

and actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results  

 Note 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016-2017 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Non-Current Assets       
Amounts receivable for 
services 

 226 226 226 - - 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

14,K - 15 10 15 5 

Total non-current assets  226 241 236 15 5 
TOTAL ASSETS  1,277 934 1,112 (341) (178) 
LIABILITIES       
Current Liabilities       
Payables 15 25 5 5 (20) - 
Provisions L 333 312 385 (21) (73) 
Other current liabilities 16 58 - - (58) - 
Total current liabilities  416 317 390 (99) (73) 
Non-Current Liabilities       
Provisions 17,M 16 27 23 11 4 
Other non-current liabilities 18 66 97 99 31 (2) 
Total non-current 
liabilities 

 82 124 122 42 2 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  498 442 512 (56) (70) 
NET ASSETS  779 493 600 (286) (107) 
EQUITY       
Contributed equity  - - - - - 
Accumulated 
surplus/(deficit) 

19,N 779 493 600 (286) (107) 

TOTAL EQUITY  779 493 600 (286) (107) 
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Variance Original 

Budget 
Actual Actual Variance  

between  
Budget 

and actual 

Variance  
between 

actual 
results  

 Note 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016 - 2017 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Statement of Cash Flows       
(Controlled Operations)       
CASHFLOWS FROM 
STATE GOVERNMENT 

      

Salaries and Allowances 
Tribunal 

 228 228 224 - 4 

Grants and Subsidies State 
Government  

20 50 64 66 14 (2) 

Royalties for Regions Fund 21,O 3,505 4,506 3,923 1,001 583 
Net cash provided by 
State Government 

 3,783 4,798 4,213 1,015 585 

CASHFLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

      

Payments       
Employee benefits 22 (1,671) (1,429) (1,349) 242 (80) 
Supplies and services 23,P (257) (432) (311) (175) (121) 
Accommodation  (169) (152) (138) 17 (14) 
Grants and subsidies 24,Q (1,556) (2,719) (2,226) (1,163) (493) 
GST payments on 
purchases 

25,R - (336) (285) (336) (51) 

Other payments 26 (171) (78) (76) 93 (2) 

 
  



 
 

 
GSDC ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 

Page 70 

Great Southern Development Commission 
Building partnerships for regional prosperity 

 Variance Original 
Budget 

Actual Actual Variance  
between 
estimate  

and actual 

Variance  
between 

actual 
results 

Note 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016-2017 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

      

Payments       
Purchase of physical assets 27,S - 12 - 12 12 
Net cash provided 
by/(used in) investing 
activities 

 - 12 - 12 12 

       
Receipts       
User charges and fees  - - 3 - (3) 
GST receipts on sales T - 3 (10) 3 7 
GST receipts from taxation 
Commission 

28,U 48 7 198 (41) (191) 

Other receipts 29,V 40 27 81 (13) (54) 
Net cash provided 
by/(used in) operating 
activities 

 (3,736) (5,115) (4,112) (1,379) (1,003) 

Net increase/(decrease) 
in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
47 (305) 101 (378) (432) 

Cash and cash 
equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 

 
806 869 768 63 101 

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS END 
OF THE PERIOD 

30,W 853 564 869 (289) (304) 

 
Major Variance Narratives (Controlled Operations) 
Variances between estimate and actual 
1) Employee benefits expense underspent by $318,000 (19%) due to resignations and the subsequent 
implementation of the recruitment freeze in relation to the Machinery of Government changes.  
2) Supplies and services expense overspent by $360,000 (140%) due to utilisation of Administration 
funds for and review of expenditure classification 
3) Depreciation was over budgeted by $8,000 (55%).  
4) Grants and subsidies overspent by $1,181,000 (77%) predominantly due to Cabinet approval of new 
Royalties for Regions grant funding for Local Projects-Local Jobs.  
5) Other expenses underspent by $45,000 (36%) due to reclassification of expenses to Supplies and 
Services.  
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6) User charges and fees received were $50,000 (100%) less than anticipated due to partnership 
projects not progressing in 2016-2017.  
7) Other revenue received was $14,000 (34%) less than anticipated as partnership projects were still in 
the planning phase, requiring further development.  
8) Royalties for Regions Funding exceeded estimates by $1,001,000 (29%) due to the Cabinet approval 
of Royalties for Regions grant funding for Local Projects-Local Jobs.  
9) Income from State Government exceeded estimates by $64,000 (100%) due to reimbursement for 
Business Planning funds expended in prior year.  
10) Cash and cash equivalents held are $90,000 (24%) less than estimated due to finalisation of 
milestones and completion of projects in 2016-2017.  
11) Restricted Cash and cash equivalents held are $225,000 (46%) less than estimated due to payment 
of milestones and completion of contractual commitments in 2016-2017.  
12) Receivables are $46,000 (23%) less than budgeted due to timing of Business Activity Statement 
GST receivables. Refund from ATO in relation to GST on payments and not all grant recipients for Local 
Projects-Local Jobs being registered for GST.  
13) Other current assets exceeded the budget by $2,000 (200%) due to increase in prepayments in 
2016-2017.  
14) Property, plant and equipment is $15,000 more than budgeted due to the requirement to replace the 
photocopiers in 2016-2017.  
15) Payables were $20,000 (79%) less than budgeted due to timing of receipt and payment of 2016-
2017 associated invoices.  
16) Other Liabilities underspent by $58,000 (100%) as a result of a categorisation review.  
17) Non-current provisions increased by $11,000 (68%) due to employee eligibility for Long Service 
Leave being 2016-2017. 
18) Other non-current liabilities exceeded budget by $31,000 (48%) due to milestones not being 
completed by proponents to enable contract payments to be made. 
19) Accumulated surplus / (deficit) are $286,000 (37%) less than budgeted predominantly due to 
payment of Royalties for Regions grants and contracts. The GSDC pays grants in accordance with 
contract milestones. 
20) Grants and Subsidies exceeded estimated budget by $14,000 (28%) due to the reimbursement of 
Business Case funds expended in the prior year. 
21) An increase in cash flow of Royalties for Regions from State Government of $1,001,000 (29%) was 
due to the Cabinet approval of a new, Royalties for Region grant program, Local Projects-Local Jobs. 
22) Employee benefits expense underspent by$242,000 (14%) due to employee resignation and the 
subsequent recruitment freeze related to Machinery of Government changes. 
23) Supplies and services budget was exceeded by $175,000 (68%) due to expenditure related to 
grants Administration and reclassification of expenses. 
24) Grants and Subsidies cash flow increased by $1,163,000 (75%) predominantly, due to the Cabinet 
approval of a new, Royalties for Region grant funding for Local Projects-Local Jobs. 
25) GST payments on purchases of $336,000 resulted predominantly from Royalties for Region grant 
payments, including Local Projects-Local Jobs grants paid 2016-2017. 
26) Other payments were $93,000 (54%) under budget due to partnership programs not proceeding.  
27) Purchase of physical assets varied by $12,000 (100%) due to necessity to replace photocopiers.  
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28) GST receipts from taxation Commission $41,000 (84%) less than expected due to timing of GST 
payments and subsequent reimbursements.  
29) Other receipts received were $13,000 (34%) less than anticipated due to delays in commencement 
of partnership project in 2016-2017. 
30) Cash and cash equivalents reduced by $315,000 (37%) due to the successful completion of 
milestones and projects in 2016-2017. 
Variances between actual results for 2017 and 2016 
A) Supplies and services was $115,000 (23%) more than 2015-2016 due to reclassification of 
expenditure categories and receipt of Administration funds relating to Royalties for Regions.  
B) Depreciation expense was $10,000 (61%) less than 2015-2016 due to late purchase of photocopier 
and items over $5,000 being almost fully written down.  
C) Grants and subsidies expenses increased by $518,000 (24%) due to the completion of a Regional 
Grants Scheme and Community Chest Fund rounds and the new Cabinet approved Local Projects-
Local Jobs. 
D) Other revenue is provided by external parties to undertake joint projects. The decrease of $55,000 
(67%) relates to project variation and scope. 
E) Resources received free of charge decreased by $4,000 (32%) as legal advice from State Solicitors 
Office was not required in 2016-2017. 
F) Royalties for Regions Funding increased by $583,000 (15%) due to the Cabinet approval of Royalties 
for Regions program, Local Projects-Local Jobs.  
G) Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $60,000 (18%) due to payment of commitments and 
completion of projects in 2016-2017.  
H) Restricted Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $271,000 (51%) due to funds being expended 
which had been held to meet contractual arrangements. GSDC is vigilant in ensuring milestones are 
met prior to expending contract funds.  
I) Receivables increased by $143,000 (1793%) due to payment of grant funds in relation to Royalties for 
Regions funding programs and timing of Business Activity Statement.  
J) Other assets increased by $3,000 (300%) due to an increase in prepayments.  
K) Property, plant and equipment shows an increase of $5,000 (54%) due to photocopier replacement.  
L) Provisions (current) decreased by $73,000 (19%) due to resignation of employees and long service 
leave being taken in 2016-2017. The GSDC has a leave management policy in place to reduce and 
manage leave liability.  
M) Provisions (non-current) have increased by $4,000 (17%) due to employees meeting long service 
leave requirements in 2016-2017.  
N) Total Accumulated surplus/(deficit) decreased by $107,000 (18%) due to the completion of milestone 
and projects in 2016-2017.  
O) Royalties for Regions Program cash out lows increased by $583,000 (15%) as a result of the Cabinet 
approved Local Projects-Local Jobs program.  
P) Supplies and services cash out flows increased by $121,000 (39%) due to payments relating to 
grants administration and reclassification of expenditure categories.  
Q) Grants and subsidies payments increased by $493,000 (22%) due to the payment of milestones 
relating to Regional Grants Scheme and Community Chest fund and Local Projects-Local Jobs 
programs.  
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R) GST payments on purchases increased by $51,000 (18%) due to an increase in grant payments in 
2016-2017.  
S) Purchase of physical assets increased by $12,000 due to the replacement of photocopiers in 2016-
2017.  
T) GST receipts on sales decreased by $7,000 (75%) due to reduction in partnership project funding 
being received in 2016-2017.  
U) GST receipts from taxation Commission decreased by $191,000 (96%) due to timing of GST 
reimbursements.  
V) Other revenue is provided by external parties to undertake joint projects. The decrease of $54,000 
(67%) relates to project variation and scope.  
W) Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period decreased by $331,000 (38%) due to completion 
and payment of project milestones in 2016-2017.  

Note 32. Financial instruments 

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables, and payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The 
Commission’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.  
Credit risk 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Commission.  
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for 
impairment as shown in the table at note 32 ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 17 
‘Receivables’.  
Credit risk associated with the Commission’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is 
the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the 
Commission trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Commission does not 
undertake sales of products and services. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis with the result that the Commission’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting 
period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.  
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  
The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.  
The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its 
commitments.  
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates 
which will affect the Commission’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Commission does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks.  
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Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 32, the Commission is not 
exposed to interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all other cash and 
cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings. 
(b) Categories of financial instruments 
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

 2017 
($000) 

2016 
($000) 

Financial Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 279 339 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 259 530 
Receivables(a) 226 226 
Total financial assets 764 1,095 
   
Financial Liabilities   
Payables 5 5 
Total financial liabilities 5 5 

a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).  
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c) Financial instrument disclosures 
Credit risk and interest rate exposure: 
Credit risk and interest rate exposure 

The following table discloses the Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposure and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Commission’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial 
assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.  

The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.  

The Commission does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired.  
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets (a) 

   Interest rate exposure  Maturity dates 

  

Weighted 
Average 

Effective Interest 
Rate 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fixed 
interest 

rate 

Variable 
interest 

rate 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

Total 
Nominal 
Amount 

Up to 3 
months 

3 months  
to 1 year 

1 – 5 
years 

 

More 
than  

5 years 

Impaired 
financial 

assets 
2017 % ($000)   ($000) ($000)      
Cash and cash equivalents        - - - - 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 
Receivables (a) 

Amounts receivable for services  

279 
259 

 
226   

279 
259 

 
226 

279 
259 

 
226 

- 
 

- 
- 

- 
 

- 
- 

- 
 

- 
- 

- 
 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 
 

  764   764 764  - - - - 
2016            
Cash and cash equivalents - 339 - - 339 339 - - - - - 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 
Receivables (a) 

Amounts receivable for services 

 
- 
- 
- 

530 
 

- 
226 

- 
 

- 
- 

- 
 

- 
- 

530 
 

- 
226 

530 
 

- 
226 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

  - 1,095   1,095 1,095 - - - - - 
All financial assets are not past due and impaired. 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure 
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities and interest rate exposure. The table includes interest and principal cash 
flows. An adjustment has been made where material.  

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

   Interest rate exposure Maturity date 

  

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fixed  
interest  

rate 

Variable 
interest 

rate 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

Adjustment 
for 

discounting 

Total 
Nominal 
Amount 

Up to 3 
months 

3-12 
months 

1-2 
years 2-5years 

More 
than 5 
years 

  %            
Financial Liabilities             
2017             
Payables  5   5  5 5 - - - - 
   5   5  5 5 - - - - 
2016             
Payables  5 - - 5 - 5 5 - - - - 
  5 - - 5 - 5 5 - - - - 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
None of the Commission’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period is sensitive to 
movements in interest rates; hence movements in interest rates have no bottom line impact on the 
Commission’s surplus or equity.  
Fair values 
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are 
carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair 
value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.  

Note 33. Remuneration of auditor 
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year 
is as follows: 

 2017 2016 
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 33,000 36,700 

Note 34. Related Bodies 
A related body is a body that receives more than half its funding and resources from an agency, but is 
not subject to operational control by that agency.  
The Commission has no related bodies as defined by the Treasurer’s Instruction 951.  
The transactions and results of the related bodies have been included in the financial statements.  

Note 35. Affiliated bodies 
An affiliated body is a body that receives more than half its funding and resources from an agency but is 
not subject to operational control by that agency.  
The Commission has no affiliated bodies.  

Note 36. Related party transactions 
The Commission is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting 
its activities, the Commission is required to pay various taxes and levies based on the standard terms 
and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers to the State and entities related to the State. 
Related parties of the department include: 

• All Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;  
• All senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled 

entities; 
• Other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of 

government consolidated financial statements; 
• Associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated 

financial statements; and 
• The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB). 

Significant transactions with government related entities 
Significant transactions include: 

• Service appropriations (Note 15) 
• Services received free of charge from the Department of Finance (Note 15) 
• Royalties for Regions Fund (Note 15) 
• Royalties for Regions funds provided to recipients (Note 11) 
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• Lease rental payments to the Department of Finance (Note 10) 
• Services and contacts payments to the Department of Regional Development (Note 7) 
• Lease payment for vehicles to the Department of Finance State Fleet (Note 7) 
• Superannuation payments to GESB (Note 6) 

The Commission has no material related party transactions with Ministers/senior officers or their close 
family members or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities for disclosure.  

Note 37. Supplementary financial information 
(a) Write-offs 
There was no public property written off by the Commission during the reporting period.  
(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 
There were no losses through theft, defaults and other causes during the reporting period.  
(c) Gifts of public property 
There were no gifts of public property provided by the Commission during the reporting period.  
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Annual Estimates 
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 953, the annual estimates for the 2018 
year are hereby included in the 2016-17 Annual Report. These estimates do not form 
part of the 2016-17 financial statements and are not subject to audit. 

S40 SUBMISSION 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

2018 
Estimate 

$ 
COST OF SERVICES  

Expenses  

Employee benefits expense 208,200 
Supplies and services 212,713 
Depreciation and amortisation expense - 
Accommodation expenses - 
Grants and subsidies 2,284,892 
Other expenses 38,000 
Total cost of services 2,743,805 
  
Income  
Revenue  
Other revenue - 
Total Revenue - 
  
Total income other than income from State Government - 
NET COST OF SERVICES 2,743,805 
  
Income from State Government  
Service appropriation 227,000 
Royalties for Regions Fund 2,197,223 
Total income from State Government 2,424,223 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (319,582) 
  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (319,582) 

 
 
  



 

 

GSDC ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 
 

Page 80 
 
 
 

Great Southern Development Commission 
Building partnerships for regional prosperity 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
As at 30 June 2018 

2018 
Estimate 

$ 
ASSETS  
Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 120,000 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 97,413 
Total Current Assets 217,413 
  
Non-Current Assets  
Amounts receivable for services - 
Plant and equipment - 
Total Non-Current Assets - 
TOTAL ASSETS 217,143 
  
LIABILITIES  
Current Liabilities  
Payables - 
Provisions 119,000 
Total Current Liabilities 119,000 
  
Non-Current Liabilities  
Provisions 1,000 
Other non-current liabilities 97,413 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 98,413 
  

Total Liabilities 217,413 
NET ASSETS - 
  
EQUITY  
Accumulated surplus - 
TOTAL EQUITY - 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
  

For the year ended 30 June 2018 

 Note Contributed 
equity 

Accumulated 
surplus Total equity 

Balance at 1 July 2017  
- 
 536,995 536,995 

     
Surplus/(deficit)  - (319,582) (319,582) 
Total comprehensive income for the period  - 217,413 217,413 
     
Balance at 30 June 2018 25 - 217,413 217,413 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

2018 
Estimate 

$ 
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT  
Salaries and Allowances Tribunal 227,000 
Royalties for Regions Fund 2,197,223 
Net cash provided by State Government 2,424,223 
  
Utilised as follows:  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Payments  
Employee benefits (208,200) 
Supplies and services (212,713) 
Grants and subsidies (2,284,892) 
Other payments (38,000) 
  
Receipts  
Other receipts - 
Net cash used in operating activities (2,743,805) 
  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Payments  
Purchase of non-current physical assets - 
Net cash used in investing activities - 
  
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (319,582) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  

536,995 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD  

217,413 
  



 

 

GSDC ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 
 

Page 83 
 
 
 

Great Southern Development Commission 
Building partnerships for regional prosperity 

 
 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

For the year ended 30 June 2017 
We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Great Southern 
Development Commission’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the 
Great Southern Development Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2017. 
 
 
 
                    
ROSS THORNTON BRUCE MANNING 
CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
17 AUGUST 2017 17 AUGUST 2017  
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2016-17 
Treasurer’s Instruction 904 requires the disclosure of performance information in the 
Commission’s Annual Report. This information assists interested parties such as 
Government, Parliament, the community and client groups to assess agency 
performance in achieving government desired outcome and obtaining value for public 
funds from services delivered. 
The following illustrates the relationship between the Commission’s service and 
desired outcome, and the Government goal to which it contributes. 
Government Goal 
Stronger focus on the Regions: Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic development to improve the overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas. 
Desired Outcome 
The sustainable development of our region’s natural and built environment for the 
well-being of all. 
Service 
The GSDC delivers one service, being Regional Development. 

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR 
Clients’ satisfaction with the GSDC’s performance in coordinating and promoting 
economic development in the Great Southern is captured by responses received 
through the annual client satisfaction survey. The Government set the Commission a 
target of achieving favourable responses from a minimum of 75 per cent of clients 
surveyed. The Commission set its own target of achieving favourable responses from 
80 per cent of clients surveyed in the 2016-17 year. 
The GSDC engaged Perth Market Research to conduct the 2016-17 client survey. 
The Commission provided Perth Market Research with a list of 260 clients who had 
significant dealings with the GSDC over the 2016-17 year. Perth Market Research 
was able to contact 198 of these clients, and completed 151 surveys, providing a 
response rate of 58.1 per cent of the sample surveyed. The response rate is 
sufficient to ensure that the overall results are representative of the opinions of the 
population of key clients within a possible sampling error of +/- 5.0 per cent at the 95 
per cent confidence level. Results from smaller subgroups are considered to be 
indicative of opinions held within those groups rather than representative. 
The result of the 2016-17 Client Survey compared to the results of the previous 
years’ surveys are shown in the following table and illustrate that in 2016-17, 81 per 
cent of clients rated the Commission as being effective or very effective in the 
delivery of regional development services. 
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Client satisfaction with the GSDC’s performance in coordinating and 
promoting economic development in the Great Southern 

Very Effective or Effective Ratings 
2017 

Actual 
2017 

Target 
2016 
Actual 

2015 
Actual 

2014 
Actual 

2013 
Actual 

81% 80% 83% 83% 81% 83% 
 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATOR 

Service: Regional Development 
This service incorporates project management work, the facilitation and support of 
new and existing enterprises and businesses, promotional and information services, 
and the development of strategic partnerships with government, business and 
community groups to ensure the development of the Great Southern. 

 2014-15 
Actual 

2015-16 
Actual 

2016-17 
Target 

2016-17 
Actual 

Variation 
2015-16 to 

2016-17 

Average Cost 
per project(a) 

$55,956 $51,570 $53,902 $54,943 $3,373 (b) 

(a) Average cost per project is calculated by dividing the cost of services (as reported in the 
Income Statement), less grants and subsidies, divided by the number of projects completed or 
progressed by the Commission in the year. 
(b) The variation between 2016-17 and 2015-16 actual average cost per project is due to an 
increase in the cost of services (as calculated in the note above) and a decrease in the number of 
projects completed or progressed in 2016-17. 

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES 
No Ministerial Directives were received during the financial year. 
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES 

PRICING POLICY OF GOODS AND SERVICES PROVIDED 
The GSDC provides no chargeable goods and services for its core business. 

CAPITAL WORKS 

Capital projects incomplete 
The GSDC did not have any incomplete capital works projects at the end of 2016-17. 

Capital projects complete 
The GSDC did not complete any capital works projects during 2016-17. 

EMPLOYMENT AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

Staff Profile (at 30 June 2017) 

 2015-16 2016-17 

Full-time permanent 6 6 
Full-time contract 5 4 
Part-time contract measured on an 
FTE basis  

1.6 1.2 

 12.6 11.2 

STAFF TRAINING, RECRUITMENT AND DEVELOPMENT 
The GSDC arranged for staff to attend training activities during the 2016-17 year. 
Where possible, the GSDC preferred to satisfy the training needs of staff either in-
house or locally by bringing specialised training personnel to Albany. The GSDC 
spent $4,268.51 in 2016-17 (excluding related travel and accommodation costs) on a 
variety of professional development activities, including training in: 

• Freedom of Information 
• Japanese Cultural Awareness 
• Industry Clusters 
• Occupational Health and Safety 
• Financial Review Innovation  

The GSDC has developed Human Resource Management Standards for the 
recruitment and development of staff in accordance with Government policy 
guidelines. Training needs are identified by the Commission’s staff performance 
appraisal system. Short in-house training sessions are undertaken on a regular basis 
throughout the year. Multi-skilling and cross-training is encouraged across the 
Commission, particularly in key functional positions. 

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION AND REHABILITATION 
The GSDC did not have any new workers’ compensation claims in 2016-17. 
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 

CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR OFFICERS 
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no 
Senior Officers, or firms of which Senior Officers are members, or entities in which 
Senior Officers have substantial interests, have had any interests in existing or 
proposed contracts with the GSDC and Senior Officers. 

BOARD AND COMMITTEE REMUNERATION 

Position Name Type of 
remuneration 

Period of 
membership 

Gross/actual 
remuneration 

($) 

Chair Mr Ross 
Thornton Annual  2 years 8 months 50,308 

Deputy 
Chair 

Mrs Veronica 
Fleay 

Annual and 
Per meeting 1 year 4 months 9,257 

Member Mr Len 
Handasyde Per meeting 1 year 11 months 2,405 

Member Mr Cameron 
Taylor Per meeting 4 years 10 months 3,115 

Member Mr Dennis 
Wellington Per meeting 4 years 10 months 2,005 

Member Mrs Margaret 
Gorman Per meeting 4 years 7 months 2,779 

Member Mrs Fiona 
Gaze* Not applicable 3 years 11 months 516 

Member Mrs Joanne 
Iffla Per meeting 3 years 5 months 3,241 

Member/
CEO 

Mr Bruce 
Manning* Not applicable 16 years, 6 months 0 

TOTAL 73,626 

* Full-time WA Public Sector employees are not eligible to receive Board sitting fees. 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the 
Commission in respect of members of the Commission. 
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UNAUTHORISED USE OF CREDIT CARDS 
Officers of the Commission hold corporate credit cards where their functions warrant 
usage of this facility. Cardholders sign a ‘conditions of use’ declaration, and are 
reminded periodically of their obligations under the Commission’s Corporate 
Purchasing Card Holders Policy and Procedures. 

For the year ended 30 June 2017, there were two instances of personal use of a 
credit card, in which cards were inadvertently used to purchase minor items. The 
matters were not referred for disciplinary action as the Chief Financial Officer noted 
that the card users promptly reported and settled the amounts, and that the nature of 
the expenditure was characteristic of honest mistakes.   

Personal use expenditure (aggregate) $31 

Personal use expenditure settled by due date (within five working 
days) 

$31 

Personal use expenditure settled after the period (after five working 
days) 

$0 

Personal use expenditure outstanding at balance date $0 
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CODES 
1. In the administration of the Great Southern Development Commission, I have 
complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the 
Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct. All GSDC 
staff have been made aware of the necessity to comply with Western Australian 
Public Sector Code of Ethics and our own Code of Conduct, and new staff are 
carefully inducted and given a copy of our Code and other control policies, on such 
topics as telephone, internet and email use and travel allowances. The GSDC Board 
Code of Conduct and the GSDC Staff Code of Conduct were updated in June 2016.  
2. I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance by all staff of 
the Great Southern Development Commission and conducted appropriate internal 
assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in Paragraph 1 is correct. 
These assessments have included obtaining confirmatory advice from central 
agencies such as the Public Sector Commission, comparison of proposed activities 
to relevant public sector standards and reports by our Risk Management and Audit 
Committee. 
3. With respect to the number of applications made against breach of standards 
review and corresponding outcomes for the 2016-17 year, I advise the following: 
 Number lodged 0 
 Breaches found (including multiple breaches) 0 
 Applications still under review 0 
 
 
 

 
BRUCE MANNING 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
23 AUGUST 2017 
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ELECTORAL ACT COMPLIANCE 
In accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the GSDC incurred the 
following expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising. Total expenditure (ex-GST) for 2016-17 was $6,802. Expenditure was 
incurred as shown in the table. 

Expenditure class Organisation  ($) Total ($) 

Advertising Agencies Nil   

Market Research Agencies Perth Market Research 3,045 3,045 

Polling Organisations Survey Monkey 228 228 

Direct Mail Organisations Nil   

Media advertising Albany Advertiser 578  

Albany Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry  468 

 

Denmark Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry 995  
Great Southern Herald 626  
Great Southern 
Weekender  432  
Green Man Media 300  
Walpole Community 
Resource Centre  130 3,529 

 Total 6,802 
 

ANNUAL ESTIMATES 
The GSDC receives an appropriation as a separate division of the Consolidated 
Account Expenditure Estimates and is excluded from reporting on annual estimates 
as per Treasurer’s Instruction 953 and Section 40 (1) of the Financial Management 
Act 2006. 

DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN 
The GSDC seeks to provide its services equally to all people interested in regional 
economic development. The GSDC’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 
outlines 22 strategies under seven outcomes. The seven outcomes are: 

• All members of the public will be provided with access to the services of, and 
any events organised by the GSDC. 

• Public access to the buildings and other facilities of the GSDC is available and 
easily accessible to all members of the public. 
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• All members of the public can access information from the GSDC in a format 
that meets their individual needs. 

• The GSDC will offer non-discriminatory service of high quality to all members 
of the community regardless of their circumstances. 

• All members of the community will be provided with equal opportunity to lodge 
complaints to the relevant public authority. 

• All members of the community will be provided with equal opportunity to 
participate in any public consultation conducted by the GSDC. 

• People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to obtain 
and maintain employment with the Commission. 

The implementation of the DAIP is ongoing, with an Action Plan to allow for 
continuous improvement. Staff members are encouraged to be aware of the varying 
needs of all people in the community in planning their work and to ensure that all 
people have access to our services. The GSDC has continued to work toward 
completion of items on its Action Plan and to reassess continuing improvements to 
the DAIP. 
Through the Great Southern Regional Grants Scheme and Community Chest Fund, 
grant recipients are required to report on the extent to which grant-aided projects 
align with the Commission’s DAIP objectives. 
The GSDC is supportive of agencies and businesses that facilitate the employment 
of people with disabilities. Since 2002 the GSDC has engaged the services of a local 
agency that employs people with disabilities for tasks such as car washing and 
detailing, and general administrative duties. The GSDC will continue to use the 
personnel from this agency to ensure that people with disabilities can access a range 
of employment opportunities and gain confidence in an office workplace environment. 

RECORDKEEPING PLAN 

As required by the State Records Act 2000, the GSDC developed a Recordkeeping 
Plan (RKP) which was first approved for a period of five years by the State Records 
Office (SRO) in 2004. The RKP was reviewed in 2010 and again in 2015. Following 
the comprehensive review in mid-2015 a new RKP was approved on 10 March 2016. 
The RKP is next due to be reviewed in March 2021. 
As in previous years, the GSDC provided regular ongoing in-house training on 
record-keeping to assist staff with clear procedures on records management 
functions. The GSDC consulted with staff on the efficiency and effectiveness of its 
recordkeeping systems. This process is repeated annually.  
As part of induction processes, all new staff members are made aware of the 
importance that the State Government places on its public records and the need to 
comply with the GSDC’s RKP. The GSDC has allocated responsibilities to all staff to 
maintain and protect public records and a specific officer has been charged with 
special records management functions. 
  



 

 

GSDC ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 
 

Page 92 
 
 
 

Great Southern Development Commission 
Building partnerships for regional prosperity 

GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS 

SUBSTANTIVE EQUALITY 
In accordance with the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2015-01 
Implementation of the Policy Framework for Substantive Equality, the GSDC is 
committed to eliminating systemic forms of discrimination in the provision of its 
services and is sensitive to the different needs of client groups. 
The GSDC implements substantive equality by regularly reviewing structures and 
policies to ensure that the specific needs of Aboriginal people, ethnic minorities, 
people of different age groups and religious beliefs, as well as those with 
impairments, are considered in the course of the agency’s work. 
All new employees undertake WA Cultural Competency training as part of induction 
processes. 
In 2016-17 the GSDC provided funding for projects designed to meet the needs of 
diverse community groups including the following: 

• A Smart Start, which is a Great Southern-developed early childhood 
intervention initiative focused on foundation skills for life-long learning, was 
supported during the implementation of its Transition to Sustainability project.  

• Princess Royal Sailing Club and Albany Fishability group completed a project 
to purchase, modify and commission a launch boat to meet the needs of 
clients with disabilities, helping them to participate in recreational activities. 

• St John Ambulance in Albany purchased a bariatric ambulance. The vehicle 
incorporates current technologies to handle patients with a high body mass. 

• Dyslexia Speld Foundation WA provided improved literacy support for families 
and educators in the Great Southern. 

• A feasibility study was funded on the establishment of a dementia specialist 
respite cottage in Albany. Appropriate overnight respite for people living with 
dementia has a strong evidence base as a critical community service. 

• A speech therapy program was supported for the 0-8 age group in the Shire of 
Cranbrook. This was as a direct result of the 2015 Australian Early 
Development Census which revealed that 25 per cent of children in the shire 
were at risk with speech and cognitive skills and 18 per cent with 
communication skills. 

• Making Mental Health Matter through Performing Arts project was funded and 
aims to utilise the arts as a vehicle for inclusively engaging young Western 
Australians living in the Great Southern through a youth-devised performance 
tackling youth mental health and mindfulness. 

• The Community Living Association kitchen fitout project addressed an unmet 
need for wheelchair accessible and centrally located community kitchen 
facilities in Albany. 
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH 
The GSDC recognises its duty to ensure the safety and health of its employees, 
contractors and visitors and in meeting this duty will comply with the requirements of 
the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and any other legislation and 
supporting documents that apply to its operations. 
The GSDC is committed to achieving the highest standards of occupational safety 
and health (OSH) in accordance with best practice. It is agency policy to: 

• Establish safety as an organisational goal 

• Provide and maintain a workplace and systems of work that do not expose 
employees, contractors and visitors to hazards 

• Ensure that all employees are provided with information, instruction, training 
and supervision appropriate to the scope of work being undertaken 

• Consult with employees on any issues that may affect their safety and health 
at work 

• Continuously review safety management systems in order to meet or exceed 
best practice. 

Consultation on OSH issues takes place at the fortnightly team meetings, which are 
attended by all Commission employees. All OSH-related procedures and forms are 
easily accessible on the Commission’s intranet. In addition there is a close working 
relationship between the Commission’s fully trained safety and health representative 
and management, which ensures that all safety and health issues are 
comprehensively reviewed on a regular basis. 
The GSDC’s OSH management system was reviewed internally during 2010-11 and 
at that time a number of refinements were implemented to bring the system in line 
with current best practice approaches, including making job-specific OSH 
considerations part of the employee induction processes. This system was 
maintained during 2016-17. 
The GSDC has a documented Injury Management System (IMS) in place, which is in 
accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and 
is accessible for all employees on the Commission’s intranet. The IMS is 
implemented at the time a worker reports a work-related injury or illness and 
continues until a full return to work is achieved or is no longer a realistic goal as 
determined in consultation with the employee, the GSDC, the treating medical 
practitioner and RiskCover. All return to work programs are developed in accordance 
with the Act. 
OSH results are reported in the following table. 
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OSH Annual Performance Actual Results Results against Target 

Measure Actual 
2015-16 

Actual 
2016-17 

Target Comment 
on result 

Number of fatalities 0 0 0  

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) 
incidence rate 

0% 0% 0  

Lost time injury severity rate 0 0 0  

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work: 
(i) within 13 weeks 
(ii) within 26 weeks 

 
 

N/A 
N/A 

 
 

N/A 
N/A 

 
 

100% 
100% 

 

Percentage of managers and 
supervisors trained in 
occupational safety, health and 
injury management 
responsibilities 

50% 50% Greater 
than or 
equal to 

80% 

Refer 
Note a) 
below 

a) The target of 80 per cent of public sector managers and supervisors trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities is commendable however it is a target that small 
agencies with flat structures and extensive workloads such as the GSDC find difficult to achieve. In 
addition to having three OSH management-trained staff, the GSDC is proactive in its approach to 
employee health and safety. 
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